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CHAPTER LXIIIL

THE JESUIT INVASION.

HILE the Irish insurrection was in its infancy, a
few weeks after Sanders landed at Dingle, a
second emissary charged with a similar mission ap-
peared at Holyrood. Esmé Stuart, Count d’Aubigny,
who had been selected to play over again the game
which Queen Mary had begun and lost, was now
twenty-three years of age. He had been trained by
the Jesuits, and was an intimate friend of the Duke of
Guise. As heir of the Regent Lennox, he was near in
blood to the crown of Scotland, and was entitled to dis-
pute the succession after the King with the House of
Hamilton. He was not too old to be James’s com-
panion. He had qualities of mind and body calculated
to give him influence and ascendancy, and he had been
drilled with the utmost care for the part which he was
to play.
To the world generally it was represented that he
was going to Scotland to reclaim the Lenmnox lands
there. Catherine de Medici and Henry were made to

VOL. XL 1
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believe that his object was to restore the French party
in the Scottish counecils. The Queen of Scots herself
was not admitted to a secret of which her knowledge
would be useless till the conspiracy was further ad-
vanced, and the Pope, the Duke of Guise, the Arch-
bishop of Glasgow, and the English at Rheims, were
the only persons in Europe who were acquainted with
the real purpose.

The opportunity was singularly favourable. The
Earl of Morton had fallen. He had recovered power
again, but he knew that without Elizabeth’s assistance
he would be unable to maintain himself.

He had asked her to give the rents to the King of
estates which were really his own, and to distribute a
few trifling pensions among the Scotch Peers. She had
met his request with a violent, passionate, and insult-
ing refusal. The party which had dethroned Mary
Stuart were the only friends that she possessed in Scot-
land ; yet it suited her to plead to the world that she
had no connection with them. To grant the King the
rents of his grandmother’s estates would prejudge, she
was pleased to maintain, the question of the succession.
Thus the Abbot of Dunfermline was sent back empty-
handed, and the patience of the Scots was worn out.
They would have preferred the most insignificant assist-
ance from Elizabeth to the profuse offers which were
pressed on them from abroad. But when, in return for
their service, they found nothing but hard words, and
when the King’s claims in England were implicitly
denied which they were enthusiastically bent on main-
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taim'ng, all those who had wavered between the two
parties, and would have gone with Morton, if they
could have received any kind of reasonable encourage-
ment, fell away from an ungrateful service,to employers
who promised to be more open-handed. Argyle, Max-
well, Montrose, with another Maitland, brother of the
more celebrated secretary, secretly reorganized their
party. It was easy to persuade James that Elizabeth
was insulting and robbing him, while Maitland and Sir
Robert Melville worked on his natural feelings as he
grew older, by dwelling to him on his mother’s injuries.
His kinsmen in France affected an earnest interest in
his welfare; and smarting under a sense of ill-usage,
he had listened eagerly to Guise’s advice to invite over
his cousin, and to confer on him the Lennox title which
Elizabeth had denied his right to dispose of.

The sudden death of the Earl of Athol after a ban-
quet at Stirling had, about the same time, occasioned
fresh suspicions of Morton. His administration had
been unpopular with all parties. He had alienated the
Calvinists by supporting bishops to please Elizabeth.
He had made his policy English in its faults as well as
its merits, and when England threw him over, the dis-
satisfaction which had murmured in secret broke into
open hostility. Thus it was that when the young
Gallicised Scot landed at Leith in September, 1579, he
found the country, or at least the nobles, and all who
were under their influence, prepared to receive him
with open arms. Rumour said indeed that before leav-
ing Paris he had been closeted with the Archbishop of
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Glasgow, and that the Duke of Guise had accompanied
him to Calais; but in their existing humour the people
would believe nothing but good of their brilliant and
accomplished countryman; especially when he was
found to have forty thousand crowns in gold to dis-
tribute among those whom Elizabeth had refused to
relieve. The few who murmured danger to religion
were easily silenced. D’Aubigny admitted frankly
that he had been brought up a Catholic, but professed
himself willing to be taught a purer faith. The Scotch
Parliament was held at Edinburgh at the end of Octo-
ber, where James took his place as King regnant. The
Acts of Religion were confirmed, and the Kirk of Scot-
land once more formally recognized. The earldom of
Lennox was then conferred on the new comer, and it
was understood that he would be declared next in blood
to the Crown as soon as his conversion should be com-
pleted.!

158, D’Aubigny’s easy success so far, coupled
February. with the report of the rebellion which had
broken out as they had hoped in Ireland, worked on the
impatience of the conspirators. The time had come, they
supposed, for the next step in the game. The Arch-
bishop of Glasgow waited on Don Juan de Vargas,
Philip’s ambassador in Paris, pointed out to bim the

1 Mauvissiére, though no party | ¢ L’on dict,” he says, ¢ que ce seroit
to d'Aubigny’s secret mission, sus- | avec une clause qu'il se feroit de leur
pected that his appearance in Scot- | religion. Ceux qui veuillent regner
land had more meaning in it than | il fault qu’ils scaichent dissimuler.’
was acknowledged, and imagined | —Mauvissiere au Roy, October 29,
that he was aiming at the throme. | TEULET, vol. iii,
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opportunity which was opening, and asked him to use
his influence with his master to bring Spain at last to
declare itself. The Queen of Scots acting in concert
with the Guises had broken, the Archbishop said, with
the French Court, and had placed herself and her cause
unreservedly in the hands of the Catholic King. Her
fondest hope, in which the Duke of Guise shared, was to
see her son carried off to Spain, converted to the true
faith there, and married, if the King so pleased, to a
Spanish princess. The present circumstances of Scot-
land would permit his capture if the King would receive
him, and for herself, the Queen of Scots could now also,
if she wished it, effect her escape, but she thought it
better to remain, to run all risks, and to leave her prison
only as Queen of England.!

Don Juan, who like most of the Spanish nobles was
impatient to see the King exert himself, transmitted the
Archbishop’s communication in the most favourable
colours. He had himself, he said, been acquainted in
early life with the Queen of Scots, and he knew her to
be a person of courage and ability. She was furious
with the French Court for having so long neglected her ;
being a woman, she would not forgive, and longed to
be revenged on them.? The movements in Ireland and
Scotland were already exciting the Catholics in Eng-

1 ¢Dixéme assimismo que & su | Don Juan de Vargas al Rey, He-
ama le offreriran commodidad para | brero 13, 1580 : TEULET, vol. v.
poderse escapar de prision, y que no 2 ¢ Estaindignada con estos gran-
lo quiere, porque pretende salir della | demente, y como muger no perdona
Reyna de Inglaterra y no de otra | y desea vengarse dellos.’
suerte, aunque le cueste la vida,'—
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land. The Queen of England felt herself so weak, that
she was in terror if a cat stirred—and if d’Aubigny
succeeded in overthrowing Morton, and the English
Catholics took up arms, the mere appearance of a
Spanish fleet upon the coast would make a revolution
certain. France could not interfere while the Duke of
Guise was on the side of the movement, and the over-
throw of Elizabeth would bring with it the submission
of Flanders. The Guise family would then probably
partition Franee, the brothers would take each a portion,
and Spain would be relieved for ever of all danger from
French rivalry.! In conclusion he begged Philip, what-
ever he might resolve, to be secret. A bold stroke was
being played, and if the suspicions of the French Court
were once excited the game would be spoilt.

It is hardly necessary to say that Philip was not to
be tempted. He replied generally that he was well
pleased with the zeal of the Catholic party. He would
entertain the King of Scots, he said, if he came to Ma-
drid, and would endeavour to reclaim him to the truth.
But he had himself his eye on Portugal, and he had no
intention of meddling with England till the annexation
was completed. Others however were inelined to
move if Philip would not. The Knights of Malta had
taken up the cause at the Pope’s instigation as another
crusade. The Grand Master was in correspondence
with the College of Cardinals, on the despatch of a fleet

* 1¢Por ventura descubririan oc- | corona y salir con el, dexandola tan
casion que los hiciese resolver de em- | debilitada que no se hubiese que
prender cada uno su pedago desta ! temer de ella.’
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to the support of Sanders, and the public feeling of
Europe was expected to compel the King of Spain to
take a share, whether he desired it or not, in so saintly
an enterprise.! _

However de Vargas might insist on secrecy, it was
impossible, when the plot began to take form, for the
nature of it to escape the English Government. In the
Cabinets of Cardinals and Kings, in the cells at Rheims,
in the purlieus of the Paris legation, or hanging about
the posthouses in France, Walsingham’s spies were
everywhere. As soon as ever the plans of the con-
spirators became intrusted to letters, transcripts found
their way to London, and the meaning of d’Aubigny’s
presence in Scotland, which Walsingham suspected from
the first, ceased to be a mystery.

Elizabeth as usual fell into a passion of alarm. She
had herself caused the mischief: she was ready now to
promise anything to repair it. Lists of noblemen were
drawn out who were to be ‘ entertained ’ with pensions,
when there was no longer a chance that the pensions
would be received. The Calvinists, so lately despised
and hated, became objects of new interest; and Captain
Errington was sent down to Scotland ‘to incense the
ministers and others well affected in religion against
d’Aubigny, assuring them that he was a most danger-
ous practiser against the King’s government, under
colour of renouncing his Catholig religion.’® Every day

1 Copie d’une lettre mandée al evesque de Glasgow, 1580: MSS. MAny
QUEEN oF ScoTs.
% Mission of Captain Errington, 1580: ASS. Scotland.
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information came in more and more unfavourable. Sir
Robert Bowes wrote from Berwick that he had learnt
on certain authority that Morton’s death was determined
on. He was to be tried and executed on a charge, which
Elizabeth’s conduct about the Casket letters had alone
made possible, of being privy to the murder at Kirk o’
field. It was true that Bothwell had consulted Morton.
It was true that Morton had concealed his knowledge
that the murder was intended. By weaving together
. fact and falsehood, it was possible to give colour to
the pretence of the Queen of Scots that the crime had
been Morton’s own, and at once vindicate her innocence
before a still suspicious world, and revenge her on the
most dangerous of her enemies.

Errington reported that he could do no-
thing; and increasingly alarmed, Elizabeth
sent Sir Robert Bowes after him as a more competent
person on the same errand, to warn the King that there
was a plot to carry him abroad, to bribe the Captains
of Edinburgh and Dumbarton Castles to hold them for
England, to terrify the ministers, to do anything and
to promise anything ‘to abase the credit’ of the formid-
able stranger. Between herself and d’Aubigny letters
passed of false politeness. D’Aubigny assured her that
he was the most harmless of men, and in her answers
she pretended to be satisfied ; but she bade Bowes speak
plainly in secret to Morton, warn him of his peril, and
concert, measures with him which would best meet the

April,

emergency.!

1 Instructions to Sir Robert Bowes, April 17, 19: MSS. Scotland.
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Edinburgh was in a wild state. ‘I find right strange
humours here,” wrote Bowes when he arrived, ‘and
matters standing in doubtful condition ; the nobility no
less in division than the people in fury, and ready to
take part according to their affections.” The
Protestant leaders had planned a second seiz-
ure of James’s person. They intended to decoy him
into the Castle and close the gates upon him.! But
James, as Bowes expected, was not to be caught so
easily, nor did the Queen’s message to him when it was
delivered produce much effect. A hint that if he lent
himself to d’Aubigny’s intrigues his hopes in England
might be cut short by Parliament, for a moment seemed
to alarm him. ¢‘He appeared much perplexed ; he said
he would follow her Majesty’s advice, and require her
counsel in all his affairs.” But his young cousin had
‘won his affections’ so completely, that the ambassador
¢ dared not assume any long continuance of his promise.’
‘With James himself there was nothing to be done.
‘The wise’ however, with whom Bowes took counsel,
‘ considered the matter though hard not desperate to be
recovered.” Though ‘Morton was fallen from his high
estate,” the ‘ experienced’ thought that he might again

May.

1 ¢The King will be moved to
visit the Castle of Edinburgh, and I
think it is either done or will be done
this night, but I look it shall not
take effect to the desire of themovers.’
—Bowes to Burghley and Walsing-
ham, April 27: MSS. Scotland. 1t
is noticeable that Elizabeth only half
trusted Burghley in Scotch matters.

Walsingham bade Bowes direct his
general letters to himself and the
Lord Treasurer ; but if there was
¢any specially private matter,’ he
was to write it in cipher to Wal-
singham singly, ¢to be by him con-
veyed alone to the Queen.’—Wal-
singham to Bowes, May 3: MSS.
Scotland. -
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be restored. ¢ The better sort made no difficulty of the
matter, offering to adventure themselves and their
friends if they might be assured of her Majesty’s sup-
port and backing.” Morton himself ¢ was ready to exe-
cute any plot that should be devised ;’ but he knew by
this time the person with whom he was dealing, and he
would not risk his life and fortune at Elizabeth’s bid-
ding, without security that this time she would take up
in earnest the cause of which he was the representative.
Offers, he said, had been made to him from the other
side, which would enable him to provide for his own
safety. He could not trust to an uncertainty. The
Queen of England must identify herself with the Pro-
testants of Scotland on the one side, and satisfy James’s
just demands on the other. She ‘must declare publicly
her care for the common cause of religion, and divide
the King from foreign practices by relieving him with
some good liberality.’*

In other words, Morton not unnaturally required
Elizabeth to commit herself, and in fact as well as pro-
mise, part with some little money. He pressed for a
speedy reply, and as might have been expected, he could
not have it. Walsingham, earnest as he was himself in
the cause, ‘was unable to draw from the
Queen such answer as the necessities of the
time required,’? nor could anything more be wrung
from her, though Bowes again said that unless she
could resolve a revolution was ¢ imminent and inevit-

June.

! Bowes to Walsingham, May 2 Walsingham to Bowes, June 1:
23, May —: MSS. Seotland. MSS. Ibid.
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able.” There was a party still well inclined to England,
but they would run.no risks without knowing her Ma-
jesty’s ‘resolute purpose” And so little hope had
Morton from his past experience, that after a few weeks’
delay, he told Bowes that ‘ he looked not for any season-
able resolution from her,” and must provide for his own
safety. '

Such words could bear but one meaning. He implied
that he must desert England altogether, and throw his
weight and name into the other scale. Bowes, more
faithful to his mistress than to Morton, continued to
keep him in play by promises which he knew would never
be fulfilled ; so ‘handled the matter’ that the difficulties
seemed rather to be raised on his side than the Queen’s.!
He tried, and Elizabeth herself tried, to tempt him into
some dangerous enterprise, either the seizure of James’s
person, or the sending d’Aubigny out of the world, into
something in which when once involved he would be
compelled for his own sake to persevere. She wrote to
him in her own hand, professing to warn him of a con-
spiracy for his own destruction, begging him to lay his
mind frankly open to her, and promising that ¢ upon in-
telligence received from him, she would not fail to put
in execution whatever should by him be thought meet.’ ?
Morton saw the snare and declined to be caught. He
‘took the letter in very evil part.” ¢He thought it de-

! ¢If Her Majesty please not to | may arise and come from themselves.’
lend any money as is desired, then the | —Bowes to Walsingham, June 15:
matter must be handled with expe- | MSS. Scotland.
dition and some cunning to persuade 2 Elizabeth to Morton, June 22
that the lets and impediments thereof | 1580 : MSS. Ibid.
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vised by some that loved him not, invented to delay
time as had been done often before.” ¢Words without
deeds,” he said, ‘should not prevail with him.” He saw
clearly that her Majesty intended to ¢be at no charge,
nor yet would maintain and stand to such as would ad-
venture themselves.”! He replied to Elizabeth that he
did not see how a single nobleman could lay plans be-
fore another sovereign for a change in the government
of his own country. If he obeyed her, he feared that
she would not herself ¢allow’ him in so doing; and he
invited her to invert the situation and to consider what
she would feel if he was a member of her own council
‘solicited by strangers.’? He knew that his life was in
danger; he had no ambition for martyrdom; and
though he preferred the English alliance as the best
for his country, he confessed that Elizabeth
might drive him to seek his safety by means
which would not be eventually profitable to her.?

The government of Scotland meanwhile rapidly
passed to d’Aubigny. Edinburgh Castle was given in
charge to one of his adherents. Dumbarton was made
over to him as an appanage of his earldom, and he had
thus the key in his hand to open Scotland to the French
or the Spaniards; while he won the hearts of the
General Assembly by subscribing the confession of
faith, by petitioning for a minister to reside with him
to perform the offices of true religion, and by throwing

August.

! Bowes to Walsingham, August | MS8S. Ibid.
3 and 10: MSS. Scotland. 3 Bowes to Walsingham, August
2 Morton to the Queen, July 16; | 2: MSS. Ibid,
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himself on the wisdom of the Kirk to choose a fitting
pastor for him.! Bowes came up to London to tell
Elizabeth what could not be safely committed to letter.
She sent orders to Lord Shrewsbury to keep a vigilant
eye on Mary Stuart, and she despatched Bowes again
to Scotland, with instructions to demand an audience
from which d’Aubigny should be excluded, to insist to
the King that whatever d’Aubigny might pretend he
was ‘a professed enemy to the Gospel,’” that he had
come to Scotland to carry out a plot which had been
devised at Rome for the overthrow of religion, and to
entreat at all events that he should not be left in pos-
session of a place of so much importance as Dumbarton.
If the King paid no attention, it appeared as if Eliza-
beth had made up her mind at last to the other alter-
native. Bowes was empowered ‘to confer with the
Earl of Morton and other enemies of Lennox,? how the
matter might be helped, either by laying violent hands
on the said Lennox and his principal associates, or in
any other way which by the Earl of Morton should be
thought meet;’ her Majesty giving a positive assur-
ance ¢ that the Earl should not lack any assistance that
she could give him,” and ¢express commandment’
having been sent to the governor of Berwick to put
himself and his force at Morton’s disposition.®

Sir Robert had himself seen and spoken with Eliza-
beth, and, notwithstanding past experience, believed that

1 CALDERWOOD. 3 Walsingham to Bowes, August
2 80 d’Aubigny will henceforth 31: MSS. Scotland,
be called, .
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she wasreally in earnest. He galloped back to Edinburgh.
He asked for a private interview with James, which
Lennox prevented him from obtaining. He then turned
to Morton as he had been told to do, and Morton, trust-
ing to an engagement from which he believed that
Elizabeth could not now retreat, committed himself at
once to a plot for Lennox’s destruction. The haste was
fatal. A panting courier came in two days later from
London with news that all was undecided again. ‘Her
Majesty,” Walsingham wrote to Bowes, ‘de-
sires you to follow the way of persuasion, and
forbear to enter into any conference with them of force
to be used, or promise of assistance from her Majesty.’
“You perceive,” he added, in bitter despondency, ¢ how
uncertain we are in the course of our doings. I am
afraid our unthankfulness to God, which in justice
ought to receive some severe punishment, will not suffer
us to put off by timely prevention the approaching mis-
chiefs that hasten towards us, which I fear are to re-
ceive their beginning from that realm. Be not hasty
to promise much from hence for we take no care to per-
form.’! Unfortunately Bowes had promised. Morton
had involved himself in schemes at Elizabeth’s instiga-
tion which were distinctly treasonable, and which, if
unexecuted, could not fail sooner or later to be dis-
covered by his eremies. He might still have saved
himself, powerful as these enemies were, if he had acted
on his first impulse, and dropped thenceforth all con-

September.

! Walsingham to Bowes, September 2: MSS. Scotland.
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nection with England and its Sovereign. But Morton,
though unprincipled as a man, was singularly steady to
his political convictions. He was firmly convinced that
the interests of Scotland lay in an alliance, not with
France, but with England. He believed that Elizabeth
could not now desert him, and he continued to listen to
her wavering messages till he too, like every other Scot
who had run her fortune, perished in his confidence.

She had not absolutely decided on deserting him.
Had she decided anything and given him timely notice
of it, he might have fled. Her infirmity of purpose un-
fortunately took shape in language as violent as her
action was weak. She thundered out threats at James
that if he would not follow her counsel she would work
him more prejudice than in his young years he eould
understand.’? In the morning in the Council Chamber
she made up her mind to be brave. Her resolutions
were undone at night by the whispers of the ladies of
the bedchamber, sworn friends of Mary Stuart. All
would go well, wrote Bowes, if she would be but firm,
‘while drifts and faintness would utterly overthrow
the cause.”? Every one but Elizabeth saw through the
situation. The council dreaded, not unjustly, that the
patience of the loyal Scots would be tried too far, that
the English party among them would fall in pieces, and
that England would then inevitably be invaded.

The council represented to her that if ¢ Lennox were
suffered to continue in his greatness,” he would destroy

! Walsingham to Bowes, Sep- 2 Bowes to Walsingham, Sep-
tember 10: MSS. Scotland. tember 12 : MSS. Ibid.
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her friends one by one. He would  nourish troubles’
on the Border, and for every hundred pounds that she
had saved by refusing the requests of the Abbot of
.Dunfermline she would have to spend a thousand on
the garrisons of the Marches. He would find a wife for
the King in France or Spain, and, when opportunity
served, would make ¢ present title’ to her crown, as his
mother did when she married the Dauphin. And ¢ the
King would have more help than she, because he was
a young man in whom both kingdoms would seem to
be knit to avoid peril by uncertainty of succession:’
while ¢ he would have the comifort also of all discontented
persons in England, whereof the number was now far
greater than at the beginning of her Majesty’s reign.’ !
She was recommended to send ‘an embassy of weight’
to Edinburgh—Lord Hunsdon, Lord Scrope, or some
other great person whose presence ‘would encourage
those who liked not Lennox,’—and to intimate clearly
and decidedly that if her remonstrances were not at-
tended to, she would declare war. She yielded as usual.
Instructions in this spirit were drawn out for Lord
Hunsdon and Sir Walter Mildmay; but they were no
sooner written than they were repénted of. Lennox
plied her with deprecating letters, which she allowed to
influence her, though she did not believe their sincerity.
She recalled Bowes, bidding him tell the King that she
was deeply displeased with his ingratitude, but that as
he would not listen to her he must go.his own way ;

1 A purpose of Council at Richmond, September 18, 1580: MSS. Scote
land. Burghley's hand, Gn’
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while to Morton again, ¢ for fear he should think him-
self forsaken and given over as a prey to Len-
nox,” she sent a message that she did not
really mean to leave things thus; that very soon, if not
immediately, she would send up ‘persons of greater
quality to put in execution the advice by Morton given,
assuring him for the great constancy she had always
found in him for the maintenance of amity between the
two nations she would never see him abandoned.”!

The value of the promise was now to be seen. There
were persons about Elizabeth who tempted her into
vacillation and betrayed her weakness. Lennox was
given to understand from England that he had nothing
to fear, and that he might venture safely on the next
step of the revolution. Morton had till now been titular
President of the Scotch council, while Angus, Mar, and
others of the Protestant leaders had remained members
of it also. On the departure of Sir Robert Bowes the
King informed them that their services would no longer
be required, while a charge was brought publicly against
Morton that he had held treasonable dealings with Eng-
land. Everything which he had done, all his corre-
spondence with Bowes, had been discovered. Lennox
knew that his own life had been in danger, and he had
entirely made up his mind to take Morton’s life in return.
Yet he paused after the first step to see whether Eliza-
beth was as weak indeed as he was given to believe. She
roused herself into a passing fury. She dictated an

October..

1 The Council to Bowes, October 7: HSS. Scotland.
VOL. XI, . 2
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order for Lord Hunsdon, who was now at Berwick, to go
to Holyrood and tell James once more that she saw
through his purpose, and that she would use the power
which God had given her to prevent it. She bade
Hunsdon take money with him, bribe Argyle if possible
to leave the Lennox faction, form a party among the
Protestants, and hold himself ready to advance to their
support if they found it necessary to take arms. But
Elizabeth’s politics ran for everin a single groove. The
order was drawn at her words; but it was no sooner
ready than it was qualified with additions which made
it meaningless.! Finally her purpose evaporated, and
she recalled it altogether.

The next step followed as matter of course. To de-
stroy Morton had been d’Aubigny’s first object. So long
as Morton lived the reaction could never be safe. His
talents, and his experience, backed by help which sooner
or later might come from England, would bring him
back into power. He was now at Lennox’s mercy. It
would have been easy to try him for his late treason and
to execute him with a show of fairness. But the House
of Guise, under whose directions Lennox throughout
was acting, had a subtler purpose, and Bowes had early
ascertained the charge on which Morton would be
brought to trial. To kill the Protestant chief and to
stain him with the murder of Darnley would at once
remove the main obstacle to Lennox’s policy and the
blot upon the Catholic cause; and those who, like all

1 Instructions to Lord Hunsdon, with her Majesty’s additions, Novem-
ber, 1580: MSS. Scotiand.
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passionate Catholics, imagined Scotch Protestantism to
be an accidental creation of a few intriguing nobles,
could believe that the disgrace of the leader would be the
death-blow of the creed.

James Stuart, the second son of Lord
Ochiltree, famous or infamous afterwards as
Earl of Arran, a youth little older than Lennox, was
selected for the execution of the arrest. The King had
consented, and the first plan was to send for Morton to
the presence-chamber, when he would necessarily be
alone and unarmed, and seize him in the King’s pre-
sence. Kither James’s courage failed him however, or
his better nature prevailed. On the day agreed upon
(December 26) he took Morton hunting with him. He
called him his father. His manner was unusually
affectionate, and in the course of the chase Lord Robert
Stuart, possibly at James’s instigation, told him what
was intended, and advised him to fly. He bad long
known that he was in danger, but for some cause he
was unable to believe that it would approach him in
the form of an arrest. He neglected the warning, he
would not even retire to his own castle at Dalkeith, but
returned to Edinburgh with the Court. When informed
that he was to be accused of the murder of Darnley he
laughed at the thought of it, and went as usual to his
apartments in Holyrood, ¢ confident in the King and in
his own innocency.’ ! ’

December,

! Bowes to Burghley and Walsingham, January 1, 1581: MS§
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1581. The name of Sir James Balfour will be re-
January. membered as one of Bothwell’s confederates.
Balfour, like many others who had been concerned at
Kirk o’ Field, had profited by the general disinclination,
to look deeply into the history of the murder, but he
had found it prudent nevertheless to remain chiefly on
the Continent. It happened that he, and only he, was
in a position to prove the communication which had
passed between Morton and Bothwell. He had a quar-.
rel of his own with Morton, which he had long watched
for a chance of settling. He had been in communication,
with Lennox—it was believed in England that he had
been at Madrid, and had obtained money from Philip to
assist Lennox’s enterprise,! and he had now secretly re-
turned to Scotland to give his evidence. The arrest was
effected on the last evening of the year in the Earl’s
own room in the Palace.? That night and the next day,
which was Sunday, he remained there under a guard,
and it was said that he might have escaped had he tried.
On Monday morning Captain Stewart carried him up to
the Castle with a strong escort, which appeared however
not to have been required. Morton had but few friends.
The Catholics hated him as the champion of Protestant-
ism ;. the Protestants, for having betrayed the liberties

[cH. 63.

1 ¢ Avisan assimismo que este Sir
James Balfour habia estado en Es-
paiia, que V. M¢ le habia mandado
dar quantidad de dinero con que
habia ganado algunas voluntades en
Escocia para conseguir la execution
dcl negocio.’—Bernardino de Men-

doza to Philip, January 15, 1581:
MSS. Simancas.

2 Bowes to Walsingham, Jan.
uary I1: MSS. Scotland. Calder-

_wood says erroneously, that it was in

the council chamber, where Morton
had ceased to sit. -



1581.] . THE JESUIT INVASION. 21

of the Kirk by maintaining bishops to please Elizabeth ;
and both, for having been, as they considered, too sub-
servient ‘to the auld enemy.” The crowd saw him pass
in silence ; and when the Castle gates closed behind him
there was neither regret nor sign of displeasure. The
news flew to England, to France, and over France to
Spain and Rome, and the exultation of the Catholic
world was a singular tribute to Morton’s greatness. The
Queen of Scots heard of it at Sheffield, and though as
yet ignorant of all its meaning, she knew that her most
detested enemy was in the power of her friends, and had
but one fear, that the English might interpose to save
him. She wrote to Mauvissiére charging Morton with
having been the cause of all her misfortunes, and the
most disloyal of mankind.! She wrote to the Arch-
bishop of Glasgow at Paris bidding him explain to the
King the enormity of Morton’s offences ; ? and the King,
little dreaming that the overthrow of the late Regent.
was the first act of a scheme of which one of the results
contemplated by its authors was the dismemberment of
the French Empire, addressed a request to Elizabeth at
Mauvissiére’s entreaty to abstain from interference. The
English Catholic nobles—Mendoza does not specify
which among them but speaks generally of all—let
Lennox know that by them the death of his prisoner
would be received with entire satisfaction, and Mendoza
himself in sending his congratulations to the Queen of

! Mauvissidre to the King of ? The Queen of Scots to the
France, January 11: TECLET, vol. | Archbishop of Glasgow, January 12
il | and March 4: LABANOFF, vol. v.
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Scots pressed upon her with superfluous eagerness the
importance of his execution, if the Catholic faith was to
be restored.!

The meaning of the charge on which he had been
arrested was perfectly understood in England. It was
to verify to the world the Queen of Scots’ allegation
that those who had accused her of her husband’s murder
were themselves guilty of it.? The obligation of Eliza-
beth to protect him was, it is needless to say, at
least as great as the eagerness of the Catholics for his
destruction. She it was who had prevented Morton
and Murray originally from publishing the Casket
letters, and making a defence of the Queen of Scots im-
possible. She it was who had forced the Regency of
Scotland upon him against his will, and had used him
ever since for her own convenience, whilc she had with-
held from him the support which she had promised.
She had herself under her own hand invited him to
concert measures with her for the coercion .of his own
sovereign. She had entangled him in a dangerous
intrigue by engagements of the most solemn kind ;
and at the last moment, when he could have provided
otherwise for his personal safety, she had bound him to
her side by reiterated assurances that come what would
she would never abandon him. A

Lightly as obligations of this kind sat upon Eliza-

1 Don B. de Mendoza to Philip, 2 ¢ Queriendo proceder en esta
January 15, 1581 : MSS. Simancas. | manera el Rey con Morton porque se
Philip wrote on the margin of the | clarificase mas la innocencia de su
decipher, ¢ Fué muy bien,'—* It was | madre, y falsedad de que le han
very well done.’ querido culpar.’ —Ibid.
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beth, she did in some degree recognize that she could
not safely let Morton die. She was herself, as she well
knew, the real object of the conspiracy, and interest as
well as honour required that Lennox should not sup-
pose that he could defy her with impunity. He had
gathered courage from her vacillation ; he should see
that she could be provoked too far. She sent the Earl
of Huntingdon to York to raise levies of men, with
directions to make choice especially of persons ¢well
affected in religion,’ and to join Hunsdon at Berwick
with as large a force as he could collect ; while Thomas
Randolph, grown old now, but with long experience in
Scotch politics, went back to the scene of his early
labours to take part in a later act of the same play, to
tell the King in Elizabeth’s name that her forbearance
was exhausted, and that he must retrace his steps and
release Morton, or prepare for the consequences. He
carried with him copies of a correspondence between
the Archbishop of Glasgow and a Cardinal at Rome,
‘procured by an emissary of Walsingham, which re-
vealed the meaning of Lennox’s presence in Scot-
land, which exposed the connection of the invasion
of Ireland, the inroad presently to be described of
the Jesuits and seminary priests into England, and
the Guisian intrigue at Holyrood. The young lord by
whom James was allowing himself to be directed had
come over, as Randolph was able to prove, merely and
only ‘to overthrow religion’ in Scotland first and in
England after; ‘a thing which would not be accom-
plished without the bloodshed of infinite numbers, and
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the irrecoverable dishonour of the King’s name.” The
Queen required that the charges against Morton should
be examined, not by Lennox, but by indifferent judges,
and she desired James to understand that if the story
of Kirk o’ Field was reopened, the accusations pressed
against one should be pressed equally against all who
had been concerned.!

If this remonstrance produced no effect, ¢ you will
then,” so Randolph’s instructions concluded, ¢seek out
the party opposed to Lennox, who wish well to the
King and to England; you will find what strength
they can make, if her Majesty send a power to preserve
the Earl and the realm from foreign practices; and you
will tell them that we have ordered the Earls of Hunt-
ingdon and Hunsdon to put a power in readiness to be
sent forward forthwith in case a milder course will not
be taken by the King. If you find nothing can be ob-
tained but extremity against Morton and his friends,
you are immediately to send for such forces as the
Lord-Lieutenant shall have prepared in such number
and at such time as you shall think meet.’ ?

In recommending Elizabeth to take a determined
attitude, the whole council were for once heartily -
agreed. The nature of the conspiracy was so patent,
the danger so serious and so widely spread, that minor
differences vanished before the general necessity of self-
defence. The cautious and moderate Sussex was at
one with the impetuous Walsingham. ‘He was sorry,’

1 Commission to Thomas Randolph, January 7; Walsingham to Ran
dolph, January 8 : MSS. Scotland. ? Commission to Randolph.
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he said, ¢that her Majesty had overslipped her best
opportunity,” ‘that it had not pleased her to enter
sooner into the execution of matters fit for her surety.’
‘If his own blood would stop the gap that had been
opened he would gladly give it” But it was now too
late for regrets. Courage was wanted—courage °in
deed and not in words,’ and what her Majesty would do
she must do quickly.’?

Her Majesty it seemed was herself of the same
opinion. Huntingdon flew to York to collect troops,
while Randolph made haste to Edinburgh. Morton’s
friends had not been idle. The Earl of Angus, his
cousin, had two thousand of the Douglases under arms.
The ministers had begun to see that worse might be
before them than Tulchan bishops. Ruthven, who had
gone with Lennox from a private grudge, had returned
to his party. Lindsay was true as steel to the cause
for which he had stood by Morton at Carberry and at
Lochleven; and all the Protestants in Scotland, Peers and
Commons, were ready to take arms when the first English
soldier had stepped out from Berwick upon Scotch soil.
Should Huntingdon and Hunsdon move they would
blow Lennox back to France again, with more ease by
far than Sir Wm. Drury had taken Edinburgh Castle,
Yet he was indifferent to his danger, and his friends in
Elizabeth’s household must have told him that he need
not be alarmed. The day before Randolph reached Edin-
burgh Morton was carried off to Dumbarton. To the

. 1 Bussex to Walsingham, January 7: MSS, Scotland.
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Queen’s message, the King replied that he was sovereign
in his own realm, that he meddled not between her and
her subjects, that he must request her to leave him to
deal with his own as they had deserved. This answer was
to have been the signal for the advance of the Earls from
Berwick. Unhappily either Randolph had secret and
separateorders from Elizabeth, or age had dulled his cour-
age and his intelligence. The Marian spirit with which
he had once contended so bravely was again in the
ascendant. The old situation was repeated with no sub-
stantial difference, yet he allowed himself to be drawn
into a private correspondence with Lennox, and yet
worse, allowed. himself to become his dupe. This true
pupil of the Jesuits pretended that no harm was meant
to Morton, that the supposed correspondence was a
forgery, and the suspicions against him baseless as a
dream ; that he was a sincere Protestant, devoted to his
King, his country, and the Queen of England. Instead
of sending for troops to Berwick therefore, Randolph, to
the astonishment and dismay of every loyal English
statesman, wrote to say that force would not be needed,
and that Lennox’s character had been mistaken. Hunt-
ingdon tried to open his eyes. The Scotch Commons
were the only true friends of England, he said, and no
good could come from d’Aubigny.! ¢ By your letter to the
Earl of Leicester,” wrote Walsingham scornfully to him,
¢ you seem to conceive hope that Lennox may be won to
be at her Majesty’s devotion, which we suppose you

! Huntingdon to Randolph, January 25: MSS. Scotland.
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deliver by way of mirth. 'We cannot be persuaded that
any sure foundation can be made that way, though it
may stand him to great purpose to entertain us with
that alluring hope. I pray you harp no more on that
string.’! ‘I am sorry,” wrote Walsingham
again to Lord Huntingdon, ‘I am sorry Mr
Randolph should suffer himself to be carried into an
opinion that Lennox may be won. I know that both
he and those that put that conceit in his head will find
themselves deceived in that man. I beseech your lord-
ship concur with me in seeking to divert Mr Randolph
from such a belief.” Huntingdon sending on these words
to Randolph added of his own: ¢ You already know my
opinion, whatever he offers will prove but dissimulation
in the end. You build on sand to accept him in
any such credit, I can but repeat the sentence of St
Paul, Qui stat, videat ne cadat, chiefly a warning in
matters of faith, but it may serve our turn in matters
of policy, especially when religion and policy are so knit
together as in this action.’®

" Their anxiety was but too justly founded, and if
Randolph’s conduct was not the work of some private
order from the Queen, hopes like those which he was
holding out were the straws which she for ever caught
at to escape the mnecessity of action. The council re-
mained determined, and she did not openly oppose them.
The Earls at Berwick held themselves ready to march,
and ships hung on the coast to intercept James if an

February.

! Walsingham to Randolph, Jan- 3 Huntingdon to Randolph, Feb-
uary 31 : MSS. Scotland. ruary 8: MSS. Ibid.
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attempt was made to send him to Spain. Orders went
again to Randolph to insist that Morton should be re-
moved from Dumbarton and placed in neutral hands,
that his trial should be open without practice or cor-
ruption, and with due regard to time and place. If
these demands were refused, Randolph was instructed
‘undelayedly to call in the English army.” ¢Morton,’
said Walsingham, ¢ was not put at for the slaughter of
the King, but for the putting down of the young King’s
mother ; > and he sent Lennox word that if ¢ by foul play
he touched one hair of Morton’s head it should cost the
life of the Queen of Scots.” "

Threats unluckily were not actions, and Walsingham
was not Elizabeth. Randolph’s eyes remained myste-
riously dim. He continued to hold intercourse with
Lennox; he continued his favourable reports to the
Court. The King, he said, had no thoughts of leaving
Scotland. Morton would have'a fair trial, and there
was not the faintest purpose of altering religion. Len-
nox ¢ after conference with the ministers had embraced
the true Evangile.” He was in Scotland only because
he was the King’s nearest relation. He was devoted to
England and the English alliance.?

The young nobleman who had been trusted with so
great an enterprise, was doing ample credit to his in-
structors. To blind Randolph, to pacify the alarms of
the ministers, and as an answer to. Elizabeth, a confes-

! Walsingham to Ran&olph,Feb- and Council, February 7: MSS,
ruary 9: MSS. Scotland. Seotland. Enclosed by Randolph to
2 Answer of the King of Scots | Walsingham,
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sion of faith of the most extreme Protestant kind, run-
ning through the whole gamut of Calvinist doctrines,
and cursing the Roman antichrist, was subscribed at
Holyrood, on the 2nd of March, by the King, by Len-
nox, by Lord Seton, by the master of Grey, by all the
party who then, and in the years which followed, were
the leaders or instruments of the Jesuit faction. To so
audacious a stroke what reply could be given ? It de-
ceived the English Parliament, which was then in ses-
sion. It appeared incredible that if Lennox meditated
mischief against England, he should have taken a step
which would alienate the great Catholic powers. It
deceived for a time even Mendoza himself, who de-
scribed the confession as the vilest composition ever
committed to words, which he could only hope to be a
forgery.! But it answered its purpose in Scotland. It
broke up the party which would have taken arms not
out of love for Morton but in fear of Popery, and to
Elizabeth it was a fresh excuse for inaction. Rumours
were studiously spread, to which the troops at Berwick
gave appearance of truth, that the independence of Scot-
land was threatened. Morton’s correspondence with
Bowes was published. He had been betrayed by his
secretary, who charged him with having intended to
send the King to England. Angus, Mar, Ruthven,
Glencairn, Montrose, and Lindsé.y, held together, pre-
pared to rise, till the end of February, but ¢ jealousies
and suspicions changed the state of the cause, and altered

1 Don B. de Mendoza to Philip, March 17, 1581: MSS. Simancas.
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the minds of many ;’! and half of those who in January
would have welcomed the English as allies, in March
would have encountered them as their ¢auld enemies.’
Huntingdon still longed to go forward. - The Douglases
could be counted on at all events ; the cause was God’s,
and God would fight for justice. DBut influences were
at work with Elizabeth which made Huntingdon a
special object of suspicion. The French ambassador
had protested, under directions from Paris, against
English interference in Scotland. Burghley told him
that France was as much interested as England in sup-
pressing Lennox, who was entirely Spanish ; that the
party now in power about James intended to send him
to Madrid, where he was to be made a Catholic of and
married, and that Spain would then give the law to the
world. The ambassador, scarcely knowing whether to
believe Burghley or not, advised Elizabeth to end her
difficulties not by taking part with Morton, but by making
friends with Mary Stuart. He told her that by recog-
nizing the Queen of Scots as her successor, she might
secure herself from danger either from Scotland or the
Continent ; while he dwelt on the danger of intrusting
Huntingdon with an army, who was her most formidable
competitor, considering the temper of the Puritans, of
whom he was the leader and idol, and their notorious
objection to female sovereigns. This chord never failed
to wake a response in Elizabeth. The Puritans, whatever
their abstract theories about monarchy, were passionately

1 Bowes to Walsingham, February 24 : MSS. Scotland.
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loyal to herself, but the blast against the monstrous
regimen of women which Knox and Goodman had
blown so loudly in the Marian persecution had never
been forgiven or forgotten.! The remains of her pur-
pose disappeared. To obligations of honour long prac-
tice with Murray, Orange, Condé, and Morton himself,
had rendered her remarkably indifferent. To use the
Protestant leaders for her convenience, to tempt them
by promises to commit themselves, and if they failed to
leave them to their fate, had been either her deliberate
policy or her custom a hundred times repeated.

A custom ‘dangerous and dishonourable’ always,
but never more dangergus, never more dishonourable
than now. Murray and the Prince of Orange belonged
to that supreme order of men whom it does not rest
with kings and queens to injure. Morton’s character
was spotted with much that was ill. His one virtue
was his fidelity to England, and for that he was left to
die. On the 7th of March, Walsingham reported Eliza-
beth to be ¢ very doubtful and irresolute,’? so doubtful
that as she would go no further he regretted that she

1¢Je me suis aussy aidé, Sire,
d'un argument que nul de ses con-
seillers et subjectz ne luy a osé dire,
et qu'elle a bien regeu, qu'elle aura
tousjours beaucoup meilleur compte
de la dicte Royne d’Escosse et de son
filz, puisque ils luy eont si proches
et en sa puissance que des aultres
plus esloingnez de son sang, pretend-
ants la succession par moyens illi-
cites et factions illicites, en tenant

du tout le party Puritain, et qui
vouldrait se delivrer du puissance su-
perieure et principalement du regne
des femmes &'l estoit possible—chose
que jeluy aysi bien faict sentir qu’-
elle a eu ce propos agreable et cognoit
que C'est la verité.’ —Mauvissidre au
Roy, Fevrier 10: TECLET, vol. iii.

2 Walsingham to  Randolph,
March 7: MSS. Scotland.
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had gone so far. The council strove hard to save her
from herself. When insensible to shame she was
amenable at times to arguments of prudence. They
told her that she must either encounter Lennox now,
when he was comparatively weak, or try conclusions
with him Jater, when he would have a Spanish army at
his back, and half England in insurrection, when the
question would no longer be of the life of Morton, but
of the English crown. She replied that she could not
invade Scotland merely because the King had called to
his services one of his near relations. They told her
she was not asked te invade Scotland. Her soldiers
‘'would go there as friends to all Scots that were good
and honest, and whether or no, if she valued her throne
she must not leave James in the hands of Lennox. She
‘gathered up her courage again. On the 15th Walsing-
ham wrote that after all he had hopes that she would
yield! But Randolph’s letters again overthrew her
half-formed purpose. He cast doubts on the probability
of success in an armed movement. He still insisted
‘that there would be no danger to Morton if Lennox
was not unwisely irritated. Walsingham told him
angrily that the Queen had given her word and must
keep it. Huntingdon said that it was ‘madness to hope
for good from a Guisian and a Romanist’ Lennox
‘might dally and speak fair till he had things fit for his
purpose, and then he would show himsslf a man of the
Holy League.’ Assassination had been hinted at as a -

! Walsingham to Randolph, March 15 : MSS. Scotland.
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means of getting rid of Lennox. Huntingdon flung such
vile suggestions from him with scorn, and desired only
to see his mistress take the place that belonged to her at
the side of the Protestants of Scotland. ¢Perhaps you
will think I would have England make war with Scot-
land,’” he wrote. ‘No, no; not so. Nor above all things -
can I consent to murder. Absit. Accursed be he, say
I, that either deviseth or executeth any such device:
for non est faciendum malum ut inde veniat bonum;
but if that you desire in the name of your sovereign
cannot be obtained, as I look it will not, why may not
some of the nobility, advised and assisted by England,
say to the King, Your Grace is young, you cannot judge
of your own State, and we therefore pray you not to
lean to the advice of one only. Why may not such a
course be taken to encounter Lennox? And then if he
reply with harquebuz and not with reason, then let the
nobility say he must put up his forces and submit to
hearken to what is fit for the King and country. If he
will not yield to this let them disarm him, and to this I
wish my Sovereign to give aid.’! It was to no purpose,
and Randolph was soon forced to own that he had been
mistaken, and ‘that nothing now could save Morton’s
life’ Had there been hopes otherwise, the discovery of
his negotiations with Sir Robert Bowes would have
sealed his fate. ‘No councillor dared open his mouth
for him. All his friends were appalled; courage and
stomach quite overthrown.” The mask was thrown

1 Huntingdon to Randolph, March 24 : MSS. Scotland.
VOL. XI. 3
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away, and so fierce a feeling had risen up in Edinburgh
among the retainers of Lennox and his adherents
against England, that Randolph was himself shot at
through his window, and was obliged to fly to Berwick.!
Two days after, a messenger came in from the Earl
of Angus to know whether England would interfere,
and demanding a definite answer. Hunsdon was obliged
to say that it was not to be, and at once the relics of
the Protestant combination dissolved. Mar made his
peace with Lennox ; Angus retired into Northumber-
land ; and the troops selected so carefully to revolution-
ize Scotland were dismissed to their homes. Mauvissiére
reported to his master that his remonstrances
had been successful, that the Queen would
meddle no more in Scottish politics, and that Morton
would be left to his-fate ;2 and the Queen of Scots, who,
s0 long as Elizabeth’s conduct was uncertain, had played
into Mauvissiére’s hands; had besieged her with pro-
testations of affection, and ‘had sworn by the Eternal
God that she would never undertake anything to the
prejudice of her sister of England or her estate,’® sent
a message to Philip through the Archbishop of Glasgow,
that now was the time for him to step in. The King
Ler son was about to return to the true Catholic faith ;
his next step would be to declare war against England
in revenge for her own imprisonment; and he would

April.

! Randolph to Walsingham, | et ne se meslera plus.’—Mauvissidre
March 25 : MSS. Scotland. au Roy, Avril 9 : TEULET, vol. iii.

2 ¢ A la fin jestime avoir gaigné 3 The Queen of Scots to Eliza-
ce point que la dicte Royne laissera | beth, May 2, 1580: LABANOKF,
faire la justice du comte de Morton | vol. v.
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not hesitate for a moment were he assured of support
from his Majesty. She pressed Philip for his own sake
to snatch the opportunity. Through her friends in
Scotland she endeavoured to drive James into hostilities,
believing that when once the work was commenced the
Spaniards would be compelled to assist.' An army of
them might land first in Ireland, and after establishing
Desmond and Sanders and expelling the English, they
could then cross over into Scotland.?

The Catholic powers had been embarrassed
hitherto in dealing with James, because no am-
bassador could be received at the Scotch Court who was
not accredited to him as King; and the Queen of Scots
had protested against a recognition which would imply
that she had herself been legally deposed. She pro-
posed now to remove the difficulty, preparatory to the
great move which was in contemplation, by associating
James with herself in a united sovereignty. A corre-
spondence had been opened with the happiest pro-
mise between mother and son, having this for its
aim ; and Mary Stuart told the Archbishop of Glasgow
that she was in haste to put James in lawful possession
of all the greatness to which he could aspire. He would
continue King, but King by her own free grant and

May.

1 ¢ Exortandole que pase adelante
con lo comencado contra la Reyna
de Inglaterra.’—Don Juan B. de
Tassis al Rey, Abril 10, 1581:
‘TEULET, vol. v.

De Tassis had succeeded de Var-
gas as Spanish- Minister at Paris.

2 ¢Pide 1a Reyna de Escocia que

en toda diligencia V. M4 mande em-
biar el socorro que fuese servido dar
4 su hijo, y que esse acuda & Irlanda
y alli se esté & la mano para entrar
en Escocia quando sea llamado.’—
Ibid. Mary Stuart to the Arch-
bishop of Glasgow, March 4, 1581:
LABANOFF, vol. v.
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consent, and no longer by usurpation and violence.!
There remained only the knitting up of the Morton'
tragedy for the first act of Lennox’s work to be satis-
factorily completed. The mad Earl of Arran, the heir
of the House of Hamilton, once thought of as a husband
for Elizabeth, was still living in confinement. He had
been in charge of his cousin Colonel Stewart, Morton’s
accuser, and to this Stewart his title had been trans-
ferred. The new-made Earl was sent to Dumbarton to
bring Morton'back to Edinburgh. Morton, looking over
the commission, and seeing a name which he did not
know, inquired the meaning of it. On receiving his
answer he said that his doom was decided. There was
a prophecy that the bloody heart of the Douglas should
fall by the mouth of Arran. The young King had
shown much natural hesitation in consenting to the
death of a man who had been in the place of a father to
him. His scruples had been overcome by the prospect .
of clearing the reputation of his mother.* The promise
given to Elizabeth that Morton should be tried by his.
Peers was observed to the letter and broken to the sense.
Argyle, Seton, Lochinvar, Maxwell, Eglinton, Suther-
land, and half a dozen others, the leaders all of them of
the faction which had been held down under the Re-
gency, were impanelled. Morton challenged some of
them, but his objections were overruled, and his fate
was decided on before the court opened. The indict-

! Mary Stuart to the Archbishop 2 Mendoza to Philip, June 13,
of Glasgow, May 26, 1581 : LaBAN- | 1581 : MSS. Simancas.
OFF, vol. v. *
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ment charged him with foreknowledge of the murder
of the King’s father. Balfour’s evidence was heard and
accepted. No defence was permitted. The bare fact
was true and could not be denied, and after a rapid
consultation the Lords declared him guilty ‘art and
part.’! ¢Art and part,’ said Morton, striking the ground
with his staff as the verdict was declared, ‘art and part;
God knows the contrary.’ His share in the crime had
been that he knew that it was about to be committed,
and that he had stood apart and let Bothwell do his work.
But the technical guilt was sufficient for the present pur-
pose. Short shrift was allowed. The trial was on the
1st of June: the next afternoon was fixed for
. . June 2.

the execution, and in the morning two of the
Edinburgh ministers came to prepare the late Regent for
death. No one till that moment knew the part that he had
actually taken in the murder. A shadow had hung over
him. He had been looked askance upon even by the
party to which he belonged, and there was the most
earnest hope among the Protestants that before he died
he would say something to dispel the mystery which
still hung over that horrible transaction.

He had slept soundly, being, as he said, ‘at the end of
his trouble.” The ministers ¢telling him to be of good
comfort, he said that he was rather willing to render his
life than live” ‘God had appointed a time for his death,
and had appointed the manner of it, and seeing that now
was the time and this the manner, he was content.’

1 Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials of Scotland, vol. i. part 3.
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He was then reminded that it was his duty while he
had yet the means to make a clear confession. Knox
had asked him on his death-bed if he had been ac-
quainted beforehand with the murder, and he had then
denied all knowledge of it. To Scotland and to his own
soul he owed now a frank acknowledgment if he had
anything to tell. " He made no difficulty. Very simply
he related the overtures which had been made to him
by Bothwell, and the answer which he had given. He
had not consented, but he knew that the deed was to be
done. His cousin Archibald Douglas had been present,
and he knew this also, and had taken no steps to punish
him. The ministers asked him why he had not put
Darnley on his guard. He replied that he had not
dared, and he admitted that he was justly condemned.
He had no new light to throw on the manner of the
murder. Whether Darnley had been strangled or was
alive at the explosion, he was as ignorant as the rest of
the world. Of the death of the Earl of Athol he de-
clared himself wholly innocent.

-The ministers obviously bore him no good-will. They
charged him with having been a pensioner of Elizabeth,
of having intended to put James into her hands, and of
having betrayed the Kirk by maintaining the iniquitous
bishops. He could afford to smile at the charge of
having received money from the Queen of England. He
had asked her for money certainly, but for the King and
not, for himself, and his requests had been uniformly re-
fused. Bishops or no bishops he had been a true friend
to the Kirk of Scotland, and the ministers, of all men in
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the world, had least cause to reproach him. They ‘ bade
him not stand upon his innocence.’ *God,’ they said,
‘always did justly, and men never suffered more than
their deeds had deserved.” The admonitien might have
been spared. He made no complaints. ‘God,’ he ad-
mitted, ‘had not only dealt justly with him, but merci-
fully, for he had been a sinner bvermickle given to the
world and the pleasures of the flesh. Had his life been
spared he meant to have cast away such vain delights
and dedicated himself to Grod’s service in quietness and
simplicity, but as God was pleased to take him he was
satisfied.” ¢ As to his sentence,’ he remitted his judges
to their consciences; ‘but it had been alike to him if he
had been as innocent as Stephen or as guilty as Judas;
the authors of his death had purposes on hand which
could not be done except he was taken away.’ ‘Tell
the King from me,” he said, ‘I admonish him in the
name of God to beware of them; the estate of religion
was never in such danger.’

¢ Then,’ continue the narrators of this singular scene,
‘then he prayed, and asked us to show him arguments
of hope on which he could rely; and seeing flesh was
weak that we would comfort him against the fear of
death.’

* We told him of the promises of mercy in the Word,
on which it behoved him to lean, the example of mercy
towards God’s servants who had been sinners, of David,
Magdalen, and Peter, and the experience of mercy
which he had found himseif.”

‘ He answered : I know all that to be true. Since I
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passed to Dumbarton I have read all the five books of
Moses, Joshua, and Judges, and now I am in Samuel.
I see the mercy of God wonderful, and always inclined
to have pity on his people; for howbeit he punished
them oft, yet when they turned to him he was merciful

again.’

The Old Testament had not been Morton’s only study.
Lady Ormiston, when he was first arrested, had given
him an ominous present, Bradford’s ¢ Meditations on
Death;’ and the stern sad man, sitting caged upon the
rock above the waters of Clyde, had made ready for
his end by patient thought upon it. A few passages
from this book were read to him ; and then, as it was still
early, he was called to his ¢ dishine,’? ¢ which he ate with
great cheerfulness, the ministers and he drinking to
each other,” and ¢ promising to drink by-and-by toge-
ther in the Kingdom the immortal drink which would
never suffer them to thirst again.’

He had a weary morning, for others of the Edinburgh
clergy came to see him, and to prevent false reports from
going abroad, the confession was repeated to them from
the beginning. At two o’clock he dined, and imme-
diately after one of the keepers entered to say that the
preparations were complete, and that his presence was
waited for in the Grass Market.

He did not know that the time was so near. ‘They
have troubled me overmuch this morning with worldly

1 Déjeuné.
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things,” he said; ‘I supposed they would have given me
a night’s leisure to have advised myself with God.’

The keeper intimated that it could not be : the scaf-
fold was ready, and the officers could not stay.

‘I am ready also, I thank God,’ he said. He muttered
a short prayer, rose and followed the guard down the
stairs. At the door of the Tolbooth he encountered
the Earl of Arran, who brought him back to his room,
and desired him to write his confession and sign it.
Having begun his journey he was impatient till it was
over. He could not confess again, he said. The min-
~ isters knew all. He was pressed no further. Arran
asked for his forgiveness. ‘It is no time to reckon
quarrels,” he answered ; ‘I forgive you and all others.’
That there might be no misconception he repeated from
before the block to the crowd the real character and
extent of his crime, and then added in proud con-
sciousness of his general rectitude, ‘The.King shall
lose a good servant to-day; as I have professed the
Evangile now taught in Scotland, so I am content to
die in it; and albeit I have not walked therein as I
ought, yet God will be merciful to me, and I bid all
good Christians pray for me’ With these words he
prepared for the end. Many remarkable men have atti-
tudinized on the scaffold, concealing agitation under a
mask of coolness. Morton perfectly simple yielded to the
awfulness of the moment. One of the clergy, Mr Law-
son, said a prayer. While he was speaking,  the Earl
lay on gruife on his face before the place of exe-
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cution, his body making great rebounding with sighs
and sobs, evident signs of the mighty inward working
of the Spirit of God.” '

‘Then,” says a spectator, ‘he shook hands with us
all round and bade us farewell in the Lord. Se con-
stantly, patiently, humbly, without fear of death, he
placed his craig under the axe, his hands being wa-
bound, and crying continually, Lord Jesus, receive my
soul; Into Thy hands, Lord, I eommend my soul, the
axe fell, and whatever he had been before, he died the
true servant of God.’!

¢So,” reported Mendoza to Philip, “all is well over,
and blessed be God the event is far better than a few
days since we feared. The King was then hesitating,
but we see now that it was only from a sagacious desire
to compass his end more effectually, to make clear the
innocence of his mother, and throw the guilt of his
father’s murder on Morton and the heretics. This is
a grand beginning, from which we may look soan for
the recovery of that realm to Christ; God being pleased
that so pernicious a heretic should be removed out of the
way by a chastisement so signal and so exemplary.’

The victory of Lennox had been complete. He had
destroyed the Protestant champions, broken up the
English party, sown divisions among themselves, and
made shipwreck of Elizabeth’s honour. A little more,

! Narrative of the Confession and | 493.
Execution of the Earl of Morton : 2 Mendoza to Philip, June 15,
Tilustrations of Scottish History, p. | 1581 : MSS. Simancas,
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and Scotland, at its present rate of progress, would be
ready to lend itself to the Duke of Guise, and to open
its ports to the armies which were to avenge the wrongs
of Mary Stuart. The Irish part of the great Jesuit
conspiracy had failed, though at this time had not yet
failed obviously, and Munster and Wicklow were still in
flames. The Scotch part of it had been absolutely success-
ful. The story must now turn to the third division of the
confederates, the soldiers of Christ, whose scene of action
was England itself. An account given by one of them
of a visit of himself and a companion to the Vatican,
will serve as a fit introduction to the invasion of Parsons
and Campian.

It was towards the close of the Pontificate of Gregory
XIIT. that two young English Jesuits, Anthony Tyrrell,
who tells the story,! and Foscue or Fortescue, better
known as Ballard, and concerned afterwards in the
Babington conspiracy, set out upon a journey to Rome
on a noticeable errand. Their object was to learn from
the lips of the Pope himself whether ¢ any one who, for
the benefit of the Church and the delivery of the
Catholics from their afflictions, attempted to destroy
the Queen of England, should have for the fact his
pardon.’ They halted on their way at the Seminary at
Rheims, where they found the fraternity occupied with
the same subject as themselves. The preacher of the
Easter-day sermon, an English convert, called Elizabeth
‘the monster of the world, worthy of deposition,” and

1 Confessions of Anthony Tyrrell, made in the Tower, August 30 and
31, 1586 : MS5S. MARY QUEEN OF ScoTs.
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he said from the pulpit that ¢ Pity it was there could
not be found any of that courage to bereave her of
her life.” Father Allen, the principal, spoke afterwards
in the same strain, ‘inveighing most heinously against
the Queen, saying that her law exceeded for cruelty
both heathen and Turk, and that she sought nothing
but blood.” Language of this kind was congenial food
for Tyrrell and his companion, and they went on upon
their way greatly strengthened and comforted. Tyrrell
was not a stranger in Rome. He had been educated at
the English College, and thither he went on his arrival,
taking Ballard with him. He explained to the rector,
Father Alfonzo Algazari, the object of his coming. The
rector ¢ being rejoiced to hear of priests of that mind,’
consulted Everard Mercuriano, the general of the order
to which the Englishmen belonged. Mercuriano sent
for Tyrrell, and inquired who Ballard was, ¢ whether
he was of credit in England,” ¢ whether he was wise
and fit for any great action;’ and the answers being
satisfactory, he procured for them the interview which
they desired with the great person whom they had
come to consult. Gregory received them in his cabinet.
They prostrated themselves, kissed his foot, and re-
mained kneeling, while Algazari, as their spokesman,
described their errand.

‘ May it please your Holiness,” he said, ¢ here be these
reverend priests lately come from the hot harvest in
England, who have come hither partly to gain strength
to give the ememy a new encounter, but chiefly to
obtain such spiritual graces from your beatitude as the
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nature of their country doth require. One thing I
am to move your Holiness in their behalf—for without
the fulness of your apostolical authority they dare
attempt nothing—if any person moved with zeal should
take out of this life their wicked Queen, whether your
Holiness would approve the action.’*

The Pope—it was the same Pontiff who had sung Te
Deums for the massacre of St Bartholomew—turned to
the kneeling pair, and said : ¢ Children, beloved in the
Lord, we embrace you in the bowels of Christ. We
have always had a fatherly and pastoral care of you
and your country. We have opened the bowels of our
compassion upon you, and have long bewailed your
miseries. As touching the taking away of that im-
pious Jezebel, whose life God has permitted thus long
for our scourge, I would be loath you should attempt
anything unto your own destruction, and we know not
how our censure on that point amongst her subjects
which profess themselves our children would be taken ;
but if you can wisely give such counsel as may be
without scandal to the party or to us, know you we do
not only approve the act, but think the doer if he
suffer death simply for that to be worthy of canoniza-
tion. And so with our Apostolic benediction we dis-
miss you.’ !

1 Tyrrell was twice examined, and | The shorter confession adds a few
gave two accounts of this convers- | interesting words on the disposition
ation. Both are preserved, one of | towards regicide of the English
them being endorsed by Burghley. | Catholic laity. * We were warned,’
They vary very little, one being | says Tyrrell, ‘to be very cautious of
merely rather faller than the other. ! the Pope’s censure to our country
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This interview took place four years later than the
events which are now to be described, when the passions
of the priests had been exasperated by the persecution
as it was termed of the Jesuit missionaries, and when
the hopes of regicides had just been stimulated by the
accomplished assassination of the Prince of Orange.
When allowance has been made however for these
influences, the story throws a definite light upon the
character of the men with whom Elizabeth and her
ministers had to deal. The disposition of an organized
party is not changed in a day or a year. The Pope
who had blessed the murder of Coligny, who from the
day of his accession had laboured unremittingly to
stimulate a crusade against England, who had landed a
Nuncio and an armed force commissioned from himself
in Ireland, and who, when his efforts had all failed,
gave his sanction to the darker method of cutting
through the difficulty, cannot be credited with more
innocent intentions in the interval ; and the Jesuits were

Catholics, for it might be it served
not for all men's appetites, and
therefore we were to use great dis-
cretion.’ :
Falling afterwards into the hands
of the priests, Tyrrell published a
recantation, and wrote to the Queen
to say that his story was an inven-
tion. See Strype, Annals, vol. iii.
part 2, p. 425. The following year
he reasserted what he had before
stated; withdrew his recantation
¢ wherein he had repeated for false-

hood that which he had bond fide
uttered,’” and promised so to confirm
the original narrative, ¢ that neither
fear nor flattery should cause him
to deny it again.’— 4nnals, vol. iii.
part 1, p. 698.

The words which he places in
the Pope’s mouth, agree exactly
with the message sent from Rome to
Dr Parry, through the Cardinal of
Como. 8ee Parry’s trial.—State
Trials, vol. i,
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but spiritual soldiers bound to execute his bidding what-
ever it might be.

Elizabeth boasted with justice that no Catholic had
as yet suffered in England for his religious opinions.
The laws against the Catholic services were technically
severe ; but for twenty years they had been evaded with
the frank connivance of the authorities. The Queen
had repressed sternly the persecuting zeal of her own
bishops. Priests of the old sort were still to be found in -
every part of England, though in diminished numbers,
saying mass in private houses, while justices of the
peace looked away or were present themselves. Nuns
were left unmolested under the roofs of Catholic ladies,
pursuing their own devotions in their own way, and
were denied nothing but a publicity of worship which
might have provoked a riot. Whatever had been the
Queen’s motive, she had refused to let the succession be
determined, and the Catholics could look forward to see-
ing again a sovereign of their own creed. She required
nothing but political obedience and outward submission
to the law, and with the average Englishmen of native
growth and temperament, loyalty was an article of faith
which the excommunication had failed to shake. The
rebellion of the North had elicited few signs of practical
sympathy, and the Duke of Norfolk and the Earl of
Northumberland had been executed without increasing
the existing disaffection.

The truce between the two parties, which might
have lasted otherwise till Elizabeth’s death, was ended
by the impatience of the converts. The Pope in his
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spiritual capacity had put out his thunders in vain.
The Pope as a temporal prince, at the instigation of
Sanders and Allen, had fallen back therefore on the
arm of flesh. He was making actual war upon her in
Ireland. His agents had revolutionized Scotland, and
the most short-sighted eyes could not but see that Eng-
land’s turn was to follow. The forbearance which had
been extended to the old priests was not unnaturally
suspended wheun from the seminaries at Rheims and at
Rome, which had become notorious as nests of conspiracy,
and from the Order of Jesus, which recognized no ob-
ligation but the will of its General and of the Iope,
a flight of spiritual immigrants appeared suddenly on
the English shore. They were subjects who had left
their country without leave, -and had sworn allegiance
to a power which was then at war with their sovereign.
Primé facie they were fair objects of suspicion: the con-
fession of Tyrrell proves that no wrong was done them
when they were credited with a more dangerous charac-
ter. They presented themselves as innocent lambs,
apostles of a spiritual creed ; and there was something
lamb-like in the disposition of more than one of them.
But to suppose them ignorant of intentions which were
avowed in the pulpits, and formed the common talk at
the tables of the seminaries to which they belonged,
does over-great injustice to their equally undoubted
ability. Even the lamb when infected by theological
fanaticism, secretes a virus in his teeth, and his bite is
deadly as a rattlesnake’s.

A more particular account must be given of the
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men who were strong enough to alter in their own dis-
favour the policy of Elizabeth’s Government.

Sanders, Allen, Harding, Dorman, Phillips, and the
other protochampions of Catholic orthodoxy, who estab-
lished the celebrated seminaries at Douay and Rheims,
had been persons in authority in Oxford in the reign of
Queen Mary. They had witnessed the execution of the
martyrs. They had shared in the enthusiasm of the re-
action and the reconciliation with Rome, and when
Mary died childless and Elizabeth succeeded, they fled
abroad anticipating a counter-persecution. But Eliza-
beth, tolerant towards Catholics everywhere, was espe-
cially tolerant at the Universities. Catholic fellows
retained their offices unmolested. Catholic students
were admitted to degrees without being required to
take the oath of supremacy. It was only as the Heads
of the Colleges dropped off that care was taken to put
Anglicans in the vacant places, that the Universities
might be tranquilly metamorphosed without violent
change. Cambridge, which had been the nursery of
the Reformers, retained their spirit. 'When Cambridge
offended the Government it was by over-sympathy with
Cartwright and the Puritans. The genius of Oxford,
then, as always, for some singular reason .inclined
equally to the oppesite extreme. While Whitgift could
hardly succeed in forcing the scholars of Trinity into
surplices, Allen was able to return to Oxford and preach
Popery without molestation ; and the professors’ lec-

ture halls, the College common rooms, and the students’
VOL. XI. 4
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parties among themselves, were saturated with senti-
mental devotionalism.

In this element grew up Edmund Campian and
Robert Parsons. Campian was. born in 1540, the son
of a bookseller in London. Parsons was a few years
younger. The first became a fellow of St John’s, the
other of Balliol. They were dear friends, both ¢sound
Catholics at heart, and utterly condemning the Queen’s
and council’s new religion,” and both distinguished by
a large following of pupils and admirers. Campian
was the more showy of the two; he was patronized by
Leicester, when Leicester was coquetting with de
Quadra and Rome, and in 1560, when he was twenty,
he made an oration at Anne Robsart’s funeral, stuffed
with high compliments to Lord Robert’s virtues. In
1566, when the Queen came to Oxford, he was one of
the disputants who had been selected to amuse her, and
he gained favour by the skill with which he distributed
his compliments between her Majesty and her lover.
The arrival of Mary Stuart, and the rebellion of the
North, put an end to these halcyon days. Leicester went
over to the ultra-Protestants, and being made Chancellor
of the University gathered up the reins, and enforced
the Act of Uniformity. The English service was intro-
duced into the College chapels; the oath of allegiance
and subscription to the Articles was exacted of the fel-
lows, and those who refused to comply were removed.

. Allen, foreseeing the coming troubles, had already fled

a second time, and gone back to Belgium, where with
Philip’s help and sanction, he opened a seminary.at
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Douay, for the education of English Catholics. Thus
he had a home ready prepared for the exiles to take re-
fuge in, and his ranks were daily recruited by priests
and scholars, who preferred their creed to their country.
Parsons, whose conscience was elastic, took the oath,
but was discovered and expelled with some discredit.
The House of Rimmon was the favourite illustration of
those who tried to compromise between God and their
fellowships, but the Council of Trent and the Pope re-
fused to sanction the subterfuge. Campian saw his way
less clearly, and his conduct was less open to reproach.
He had speculated out the Anglo-Catholic theory for
himself, and in 156% was ordained deacon in the Church
of England. ‘Extraordinary mental anguish ’ followed.
He shrunk from being examined by Leicester’s com-
missioners. The imposition of hands by a heretic bishop
he felt as a brand of infamy. He left Oxford and went
to Ireland, to reside with Stanihurst the Recorder of
Dublin, and the father of one of his pupils. Here he
occupied himself in writing a short but valuable history
of Ireland— valuable especially as containing a lucid
account of things which in that curious time he saw
there with his own eyes. Afterwards, being for some
cause suspected, he came back in disguise, witnessed the
trial of Doctor Story in Westminster Hall, and feeling
that his own country was no longer a home for him he
followed Parsons and joined him and Allen at Douay.
The establishment at Douay was broken up, as will
be remembered, by Requescens, and the seminary was
removed to Rheims; but its prosperity continued un-
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abated. The pupils whom Campian and his friends had
trained at Oxford had caught and retained his spirit.
They grew from boys to men. They took their degrees
and became fellows, and Holt of Oriel, Arden of Trinity,
Garnet, Bryant, Sherwin, Emerson,' and many more,
wandered together by Cherwell and Isis, brooding over
their masters’ teaching, and resolving one by one to
break the ties of home and kindred and devote their
lives to the cause of the Catholic faith. Those who had
been born Catholics continued cc;ol, collected, and mo-
derate. The Anglican converts developed the Catholic
theory among themselves to its most extravagant con-
clusions. ‘Those who are seminary priests,” wrote one
to Walsingham, in 1585, ¢ learnt not their papistry
abroad, but carried it with them from their colleges at
Oxford.’? The sum of life to them was the triumph
of the Church, and they themselves longed to become
the Church’s soldiers. Thus Oxford became a perpetual
recruiting ground from which year after year flights of
students passed over to Rheims or to another college
which the Pope had erected at Rome, filled with a pas-
sionate hatred of the Church of their country, whose
orders were a mark of the beast, and which itself was
the Antichrist of prophecy. To profess the Catholic
-creed and to become themselves priests was not enough
for them, and the subtle politicians into whose hands
they fell understood how to utilize their enthusiasm.

1 Ralph Emerson, namesake of | blood with him.
Ralph Waldo Emerson the great 3 Domestic MSS. April, 1585.
American, and probably of the same
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To dreamers such as these, the Order of Jesus be-
came an object of ecstatic admiration. The Jesuits had
come into existence to combat the Reformation, as the
Templars and the Knights of St John to be the warriors
of the Cross against the Crescent. Their discipline and
their devotion were absolute alike. They had no law
but the will of their superior, no purpose but what they
called the cause of God. They appeared a legion of
angels, with weapons tempered in celestial erthodoxy,
sent down to earth to smite the hydra of heresy. In
this order therefore the choicest of the English converts
instantly enrolled themselves. Campian and Parsons
went first, and the best of the rest were allowed to fol-
low them. Through the lax police system of England
and the connivance of secret friends in high places, they
corresponded with their companions whom they had left
behind at the University. They visited their old haunts
when they pleased, undiscovered by officials who did not
wish to see them ; and whenever a new man was wanted
Oxford could always supply some young enthusiast,’
eager to venture his life in the service of God and Mary
Stuart.

~ From these sources, as the Marian priests died off,
Allen supplied their places. ¢ The number of Catholics,’
wrote Mendoza, on the 28th of December, 1578, to
Philip, ¢increases daily, the instruments being mission-
aries from the seminary which your Majesty founded at
Douay. A hundred of those who went to study either
there or at Rome have returned in this past year. They
travel disguised as laymen, and young as they are, the
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fervour with which they throw themselves into their
work, and the cheerful fortitude with which they accept
martyrdom when occasion offers, are entirely admirable,
Some have already suffered with the utmost calmness,!
following in the steps of the saints who had gone before

“them. Till lately there were but few priests left in
England, and religion was dying out for want of
teachers. None called themselves Catholics but the
few to whom God had given grace to persevere out of
pure zeal for his service. But now, by means of those
who have come over, it has pleased God to provide a
remedy.’ ?

These ‘first comers however were but the rank and
file of the converts: mere secular priests who, unless
they gave other cause for suspicion, had not as yet
drawn on themselves the special animosity of the Go-
vernment. But in connection with the great efforts
which were being made to overthrow Elizabeth, some-
thing was needed more vigorous, more publicly effective.
The Church, so Allen deliberately calculated, required
martyrs to set off against the victims of Queen Mary.
Catholics should show that they could suffer pain as
well as inflict it, and if Elizabeth could be forced into
a confessed religious persecution, it might rouse the

1 Mendoza perhaps alludes to | held to have been needless cruelties.
Cuthbert Mayne, who was discover- | But were a Brahmin to be found in
ed in Cornwall in November, 1578, | the quarters of a Sepoy regiment
having about him copies of the | scattering incendiary addresses he
Bull of Pope Pius. He was tried for | would be hanged also.
treason and hanged at Launceston. 2 Mendoza to Philip, December
This and similar executions are now | 28, 1578: MSS. Simancas.
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Catholic powers out of their apathy. As a preparation
further for the intended invasion from Scotland, men
were wanted of authority and intelligence to stimulate
everywhere a powerful Catholic revival. In other
words, the Jesuits were wanted, and as yet no Jesuits
had been allowed to go to England. Their lives were
precious, and the English mission was considered likely
to be the most dangerous which they had yet under-
taken.

To the young spiritual knights-errant however the
peril was an additional temptation, and the consent of
the General of the order had at length been obtained.
‘When Sanders sailed for Ireland Allen went to Rome
to arrange the plan of the campaign, and Campian, who
had been for some years working at Prague, was selected
with Parsons to make the first adventure. Mercuriano
sent for them to Rome to receive their instructions, and
they arrived there in the spring of 1580, just at the
time when d’Aubigny had secured his footing in Scot-
land. The principle of the Jesuit organization wasab-
solute despotism. Parsons, now about five and thirty,
cool, clear-headed, and not given to emotions or sensi-
bilities, was made head of the mission. He was trusted
with the inner secrets of the Papal policy, and was left
to rule himself and his companions as occasion or op-
portunity required.! Campian and the rest of the party

! Mr Simpson, the latest and | to Ireland, that he and Campian only
most eandid biographer of Campian, | became acquainted with it, and were
endeavours to believe that Parsons | embarrassed by the knowledge, when
was ignorant of Sanders’s expedition | on the eve of entering. England.
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had no such discretion. It was essential that the mis-
sion should bear the character of a purely religious
crusade, that those who became martyrs should appear
as martyrs for their faith, without note or taint of
treason on them. To make converts would be entirely
sufficient for the purposes of the intended insurrection.
Enthusiastic Catholics (and converts were always en-
thusiastic) could be relied on with confidence when the
army of liberation should appear. Campian therefore
was directed to keep strictly to the work of conversion,
not to mix himself with politics, to avoid all mention of
public matters in his letters to the General, and never to
speak against the Queen except in the presence of per-
sons of known and tried orthodoxy.

Absolute adherence to such a programme was im-
possible. The great difficulty of the English Catholics,
which they felt more keenly the more theéir consciences
were aroused, was the Bull of Deposition. They had
been absolved from their allegiance. They were them-
selves implicated in the censures of the Church if they
continued to regard Elizabeth as their sovereign, and
the alternative of disloyalty or infidelity had been

Sanders had landed openly at Smer-
wick, with a commission as Legate,
in July, ¥579, nine months before
Parsons and Campian left Rome.
He had published circulars to the
Irish ochiefs immediately on his
arrival, announcing that his coming
was to be followed by a Papal army.
James Fitzmaurice, the Pope's
general, had been killed. The pro-

gress of the insurrection was being
watched with the greatest eagerness
in France and Spain, and yet we are
to suppose that at Rome itself, the
head-quarters of the enterprise, no-
thing was generally known about
it. Mr Simpson is too intelligent a
person to defend seriously so prepos-
terous an hypothesis. ’
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harshly forced upon them. The Jesuits therefore were
commissioned to tell them in the Pope’s name that the
Bull only remained in force as it regarded the Queen
and the heretics, but that it was so construed as not to
touch the Catholics. It left them free to profess them-
selves loyal until circumstances would allow the sen-
tence to be executed. Catholic English gentlemen, that
is, were to be allowed to call themselves good subjects of
Elizabeth, to disclaim all disloyal intentions, to lead the
Queen to trust them by assurances of devotion and
fidelity, until the Spaniards or the French or the Scots
were ready to invade the country, and then it would be
their duty to turn against her.!

The poison of asps was under the lips of the bearers
of such a message of treachery. It could not be com-
municated, as Burghley fairly argued,® without implied
treason. No plea of conscience could alter the nature
of things. To tell English subjects that they might
continue loyal till another sovereign who claimed their
allegiance was in a position to protect them, was to
assert the right of that sovereign, as entirely and essen-
tially, as to invite them to take arms on his side. And
if the Pope erected his pretensions to dispose of king-
doms into an article of faith, a government which
flung back his insolent claims into his teeth was not
likely to allow priest or layman to make a conscience of
disloyalty.

1 Facultates concesse PP. Ro- ! 1580: MSS. Domestso.
berto Personio e¢ Edmundo Cam- l 2 Execution of Justice, London,
piano, pro Anglid, die 14 Aprilis, | 1583.
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After receiving their instructions, the forlorn hope
of Popery, Parsons, Campian, and seven of their Oxford
pupils, now Jesuits like themselves, commenced their
journey from Rome on the 18th of April. They were
received at Milan with distinguished honours by Carlo
Borromeo, who gave them fresh exhortations to con-
stancy. They made a second halt at Rheims, where
Campian preached a sermon which showed that he had
not forgotten his command of English, and threw the
college into an ecstasy of enthusiasm. In the beginning
of June they went forward again, and at St
Omers they were met by a warning, that if
they valued their lives they would go no further. A
number of inflammatory briefs scattered by Sanders
about Ireland had been sent over to the English coun-
cil; alarming reports had come in of Spanish prepara-
tions ; a declaration of war was not unlikely—in return,
as will be presently told, for the depredations of Drake;
and one of Sanders’s papers declared positively that a
Spanish fleet was on the point of sailing for Kerry.
Elizabeth showed it to Mendoza, and inquired whether
his master had authorized Sanders to use such language.
Mendoza’s answer did not mend matters. He declined
to say whether assistance would or would not be sent
from Spain to Sanders. He looked on the Pope, he
said, as undoubtedly God’s vicar, and head of the Roman
Catholic world. For that confession he would lose a
hundred lives if he had them. What his rights were as
a temporal prince he did not know ; but this he would
say, that the tyranny of the Pope was the eternal sub-

June.
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ject of declamation with the English clergy. Carica-
tures were sold publicly in London of the Pope, Nero,
and the Grand Turk, as the three tyrants, and the
Queen ought not to be surprised if the Pope used such
power as he possessed to restore Ireland and England
also to their old condition.

She was alarmed, and not without reason. She had
just broken with the Duke of Alengon, as Burghley
supposed definitively, and had thus affronted France.
An uneasy humour was spreading among the English
Catholics, and Mendoza represented to Philip that
if he would take advantage of the existing confusion,
and send his fleet to the Channel, he would probably
find an easy victory. -'A commission had been sent out
to the bishops bidding them look more sharply after the
Catholic families. Elizabeth pretended to Mendoza
that it had been issued without her consent. She re-
called it. She said her bishops were a set of knaves,
and she would not have the Catholics ill-used. But
her hesitation was ill-timed, and could not be main-
tained. Reports of the Jesuit mission came in from
Rome with exact information of its nature, and of the
new construction of Pope Pius’s Bull. Briefs, identical
with those dispersed by Sanders in Ireland, declaring
the Queen a schismatic, and Queen no longer, were
found lying about the streets in London ; and Elizabeth,
in spite of herself, had been driven back upon severity.
The statutes against the Catholics were put in force,

1 ¢Diciendo por su misma boca que eran unos bellacos.’—Don B. de
Mendoza al Rey, & 23 Marzo, 1580.
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and gentlemen detected in hearing mass were thrown
into loose confinement.! Two proclamations were issued,
one requiring every one who had sons or relations
abroad to recall them to England, and declaring that
whoever harboured Jesuits and seminary priests would
be prosecuted as a maintainer of rebels;* the other, a
noble appeal from the Queen to her well-affected sub-
jects, to judge between her and those who were now
seeking to overthrow her throne. Confident in the just
moderation of her past government, she told them that
she relied upon their loyalty, to support her against her
enemies domestic or foreign.?

1 Mendoza to Philip, June 26.
Mendoza says they were imprisoned.
The meaning of the word will be
presently seen.

3 CAMDEN,

3 ¢The Queen’s Majesty findeth
the continuance or rather increase of
traitorous and malicious purposes,
labours and solicitations of such
rebels and traitors as justly have
been condemned by law, and do live
in foreign parts, and the joining to
them certain others that are fled out
of the realm, as persons refusing to
live here in their natural country
like natural subjects; both which of
long time have wandered from place
to place, and from one prince’s Court
to another ; but especially to Rome ;
and there have falsely and traitor-
ously slandered the good govern-
ment of the realm by the Queen’s
Majesty, who in very deed, and
that most notably to be recorded,

hath so graciously, favourably, and
with that [indifferency (MS. in-
jured)] ministered justice to all her
subjects, high and low, as [in no]
age by any history can be recounted
such a long and peaceable continu-
ance of quietness and rest as in her
time hitherto hath been. And if the
foresaid traitors and their complices
had not for their private ambition
and rancour sought at one or two
times to have interrupted the same
in one or two corners of the realm,
it might have been pronounced of
her Majesty’s quiet government, by
the goodness of God for these twenty
years, that could not have been re-
corded by any history for these
thousand years, either of England or
any kingdom in Christendom. And
yet, it may be truly ‘said, notwith.
standing their said interruptions at
home by their open rebellion, and
their traitorous labours, practices,
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At this moment Parsons and his party reached

Calais.

They were prepared for danger, and had come

and solicitations to many great
princes to procure sedition in the
realm, yea, to have the realm in-
vaded by foreign force as lately they
have begun in Ireland, whereof by
God’s goodness their attempts are
likely to be frustrate. But now to
add some matter to serve their
wicked purpose they have caused to
be put in writing that the Pope,
the King of Spain, and other princes
are acoorded to make a great army
to invade England, and to dispose of
the crown, and the possessions of
the subjects of the realm, at their
pleasure, thereby intending to move
the people of the realm to a discord
in their minds, as some to be bold to
persist in their undutifulness, some
to be afraid to continue dutiful.
But her Majesty considering the
goodness of God, how hitherto she
and her whole realm have been pre-
served by his godly and special
protection, and that she ought not
only to be most thankful for the
same, and to maintain his glory and
honour by retaining her people in
the true profession of the gospel,
and to keep them free from the
bondage of the Romish tyranny, but
also she ought and must use those
means which God hath given to her
and put into her hands, that is power
over an infinite number of godly,
dutiful, faithful, manlike, and able
people, her loving subjects through
all parts of the realm; with which
and by whose ready help, with their

bodies, lives, and substance, by God’s
grace she is and shall be able to
withstand, both by sea and land,
all foreign power how mighty so-
ever the same may be procured or
intended against her and her realm.
—And to that end she hath of late
caused the universal strength of her
subjects to be viewed, prepared, and
arranged, and the same she doth
mean to have still continued in a
readiness to withstand all hostile
attempts, as well by sea with her
own navy and the navy of the
realm, as by land both on horse-
back and on foot ; whereby, through
God’s goodness, she hath such a
strength as, in comparison, never
any king of this realm hath had
the like, to overcome all foreign
malice to her and to the state
of true Christian religion, for the
profession and maintenance whereof
her Majesty knoweth that both
herself and her realm is maligned.
So she thinketh it good to admon-
ish her good people that they con-
tinue in the dutiful and humble
service of Almighty God, manifest-
ing by their homest conversation,
their Christian profession, and also
do remain constant in courage with
their bodies and substance to with-
stand any enterprises that may
be offered to this realm; and that
whatsoever rumours by speech or
writing they shall hear of as ma-
liciously dispersed by traitors abroad
or by their secret complices and
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to seek it. Half the country, at least, they believed to
be'at heart in their favour. They had friends every-
where, from the palace at Westminster to the village
alehouse ; and to issue proclamations was more easy
than to execute them. To avoid suspicion they crossed
in separate parties. Parsons went first,' dis-
guised as a volunteer officer returning from
the Low Countries. He found no difficulty. His buff
uniform, his gold lace, his hat and feather, and well-
appointed servant, were passport sufficient for the Dover
searchers. He made his way to Gravesend, and up the
river to London ; and as the readiest means of finding
a friend, he went openly to the Marshalsea to look
among the Catholic prisoners. His reception there
shows with what extreme laxity the word ¢ prison’ must
be understood as applied to recusants who could pay for
good treatment. They were no more prisoners than
law students at an Inn of Court. They went in and
out at their pleasure, complying only with the rules of
hours. They had apartments to themselves, where
Parsons dined with them, and they introduced him to a
young Catholic gentleman of fortune, a Mr Gilbert,
who invited him to his house in Fetter Lane.

June.

favourers at home, that they not
only be not moved therewith to alter
their duties and courage, as by God’s
grace there shall be no just cause,
bat that they cause all such spreaders
of like rumours to be apprehended,
and speedily brought tosuch justices
as they shall know to be faithful
professors of true religion, and

dutiful and faithful ministers under
her Majesty, by them to be chastised
according to their demerits as sow-
ers of sedition, and aiders and abet-
tors of foreign traitors.’— Admoni-
tion for the People, Burghley's
hand : MSS. Domestic.
1 June 11,
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Campian came next. He crossed on the day of St
John the Baptist, his patron saint, as he observed, to
whom he had commended his cause and his journey.
His pretended calling was that of a jewel merchant,
and Ralph Emerson, ¢his little man,’ followed him with
* his box and his pack. Campian wanted the cool adroit-
ness of his superior. He was suspected and carried be-
fore the Mayor, who took him for Allen himself. Allen,
he could safely swear that he was not. The Mayor
however was on the point of sending him to the council,
when God and St John introduced an old man in some
authority, who overruled the magistrates and dismissed
him. Believing himself thus under the special guard-
ianship of heaven, he too went to London, and made
his way to the friend in Fetter Lane. The rest came
in one by one, and found a hearty welecome from Gil-
bert, who, with other young Catholics of family, had
formed themselves into an association for the protection
of the Jesuits as soon as they should arrive. In the
list of its members may be read the names of Charles
Arundel, Francis Throgmorton, Anthony Babington,
Chidiock Tichbourne, Charles Tilney, Edward Abing-
ton, Richard Salisbury, and William Tresham, men im-
plicated all of them afterwards in plots for the assassin-
ation of the Queen. The subsequent history of all these
persons is a sufficient indication of the effect of Jesuit
teaching, and of the true object of the Jesuit mission.

London was the stronghold of English Protestant-
ism. Yet even in London the Government was singu-
larly feeble. Campian was known everywhere to have
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arrived. His reputation for eloquence caused such an
eagerness to hear him preach, that Lord Paget hired a
hall near Smithfield, and on the 29th of June, a Jesuit
missionary, under the ban of the council, and liable, if
arrested, to be tried for treason, preached publicly in
the middle of the city to a vast audience. A warrant
was, of course, issued for Campian’s apprehension, but
¢ great persons at Court’ sent him warning. The con-
stables were Catholic, and conveniently blind. The
fathers agreed that, if taken, they should swear all of
them that their errand was purely a spiritual one : they
then dispersed to visit every English county, to hear
confessions, administer the sacraments, reconcile the
lapsed, encourage ‘all Catholics to persevere in the
faith, and wait for the good time that was in store for
them. - Gilbert and his friends provided money. Each
father had two horses, a servant, a variety of disguises,
and sixty pounds in cash. They dressed as occasion
required, sometimes as officers, sometimes as gentlemen,
sometimes as Protestant clergy, sometimes as bailiffs or
apparitors. Campian himself, in a letter to the general
of the order, sketches his adventures and his success.
‘I came to London,” he wrote, ‘and my
good angel guided me unwittingly to the
same house that had harboured Father Robert! before,
whither young gentlemen came to me on every hand.
They embrace me, reapparel me, furnish me, weapon me,
and convey me out of the city. I ride about some piece

November.

! Parsons,
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of the country every day. The harvest is wonderful
great. On horseback I meditate my sermon ; when L

‘come to the house I polish it. Then I talk with such

as come to speak with me, or hear their confessions.
In the morning, after mass, I preach. They hear with
exceeding greediness, and very often receive the sacra-
ments, for the ministration whereof we are well assisted
by priests, whom we find in every place. The priests
of our country being themselves most excellent for virtue
and learning, yet have raised so great an opinion of our
society, that I dare scarcely tell the exceeding reverence
all Catholics do to us. How much more is it requisite
that such as are hereafter to be sent for supply, where-
of we have great need, be such as may answer all men’s
expectation of them. Specially let them be well trained
for the pulpits. I cannot long escape the hands of the
heretics. ~The enemies have so many eyes, so many
tongues, so many scouts and crafts. I am in apparel
to myself very ridiculous. I often change it, and my
name also. I read letters sometimes myself, that in the
first front tell news that Campian is taken, which noised
in every place where I come, so fills mine ears with the
sound thereof, that fear itself has taken away all fear.
My soul is in my own hands ever. Let such as you
send, make count of this always :—The solaces that are
intermeddled with the miseries are so great that they
not only countervail the fear of what temporal govern-
ment soever, but by infinite sweetness make all worldly
pains seem nothing. A conscience pure, & courage in-

vincible, zeal incredible, a work so worthy—the number
YOL. XL, &
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innumerable of high degrees, of mean calling, of the
inferior sort, of every age and sex. Among the Pro-

[cH. 63.

testants themselves that are of milder nature, it is.turned.”

into a proverb that he must. be a Catholic, that payeth
faithfully that he oweth; in so much that if any
Catholic do injury, everybody expostulates with him
as for an act unworthy of men of that calling. To be
short, heresy heareth ill of all men, neither is there any
condition of people commonly counted moare vile and
impure than their ministers, and we worthily have in-
dignation that fellows so unlearned, so evil, so derided,
8o base, should in so desperate a quarrel overrule such a,
number of noble wits as our realm hath.! Threatening

1 There was too much justice in
Campian’s description of the Pre-
testant clergy. The. bishops seemed
determined to deserve the name
which Elizabeth was so fond of be-
stowing en them. The- House of
Commons had many times remon-
strated in vain against their commut-
ations of penance, their dispensa-
tions for pluralities, their iniquitous
courts, and the class of persons
whom they ordained to the ministry.
The Crown at length took up the
complaint, and at an interview be-
tween the Queen and council and a
number of the bishops in February,
1585, there was the following singu-
lar dialogue :—

¢Then spake my Lord Treasurer
to my Lord of Canterbury, Truly,
my Lord, her Majesty has declared
unto you a marvellous great fault
that you make in this time of light

s0 many lewd and unlearned minis-
ters.

*Well, quoth her Majesty, draw:
articles, and burden them that have:
offended.

¢ I donot barden, quoth my Lord
Treasurer, them that be here; but
it is the Bishop of Lichfleld that I
mean, who made seventy ministers

.in one day for money, some tailors,

some shoemakers, and other crafts-
men. I am sure the greatest part of
them are net able to keep houses.

¢ Then said the Bishop of Roches-
ter, That may be so, for I know one
that made seven in ome day. I
would every man might bear hia
own burden. Some of us have the
greatest wrong that can be offered.

'For mine own part, I am sure I

never made above three in one day.
But, my Lord, if you would have
none.but learned preachers admitted
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edicts come forth against us daily ; notwithstanding by
good heed and the prayers of good men, we have passed
safely through the most part of the island. I find
many neglecting their own security to have care of my
safety. . . . The persecution rages most cruelly. At
the house where I am, is no other talk but of death,
flight, prison, or spoil of their friends. Nevertheless
they proceed with courage, many even at this present
being restored to the Church; new soldiers give up
their names, while the old offer up their bloed, by which
holy hosts and oblations God will be pleased, and we
shall, no question, by him overcome. There will never
want in England men that shall have care of their own
salvation, nor such as shall advance other men’s. Neither
shall this Church here ever fail, so long as priests and
pastors shall be found for these sheep, rage man or devil
never so much.’*

It was characteristic of Campian that he failed to
discover where the strength of the Reformation lay. It
appeared to him to be a question of this or that opinion.

67

into the ministry, you must provide
better Livings for them.

¢To have learned ministers in
every parish is, in my judgment, im-
possible, quoth my Lord of Canter-
bury. Being 13,000 parishes in
Eagland, I know not how this realm
should yield so many learned
preachers.

¢Jesus! quoth the Queen; 13,000
is not to be looked for. I think the
time has been, there hath not been
four preachers in a diocess. My

meaning is not you should make
choice of learned preachers only, for
they are not to be found, but of
honest, sober, and wise men, and
such as can read the Scriptures and
the Homilies well unto the people.’—
Brief effect of her Majesty's speech
to the bishops, February 27, 1585:
MSS. Domestic.

1 Edmund Campian to Everards
Mercuriano : SS. Domestic, No-
vember, 1580, )
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It was in fact a question of national life, a question whe-
ther the ecclesiastical system of which the Pope was the
head was to continue to rule without appeal over the
entire destinies of menkind. To the Jesuit the tem-
poral and spiritual power of the Papacy were related to
one another as soul and body, one incapable of existing
without the other. He did not see that the thing which
he called heresy had a body also, the body of the State,
which represented justice, which represented law, which
represented those rights of conscience which ecclesiastics
denied, and considered it a crime to claim. Campian
saw the Catholic Church agreed upon a body of doctrine
which had the prescription of ten centuries in its favour,
which had been taught by the Fathers, and had shaped
the spiritual thought of Christendom. He saw the he-
retics split into a hundred sects, staggering like men
walking on quicksands, and over their confusions and
uncertainties he anticipated an easy victory. Heresy
appeared to him in extremity of death, without defence
of reason or authority of age. He wrote from his con-
cealment to the council offering to dispute in public
with any Protestant or Protestants who would encounter

him. He published a book which he and his admirers

considered to have closed the controversy. Itwas as if
an adversary of the Newtonian astronomy had thought
to overset the modern theory of the celestial motions by
an appeal to Ptolemy or Hipparchus ; or as if Julian or
Porphyry had imagined that they had disproved Chris-
tianity by showing that it was not to be found in the
Theogonies or in the Zend Avesta. Time and accumu-
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lation of knowledge, and the mental expansion which
came with it, had shown intelligent men that things
which their forefathers had believed to be tiue were not
true. That a priest, by muttering a few words, could
convert a cake into Almighty God, had become for ever
incredible to them. The Church had said, You shall
believe it or we will kill you ; and the State had inter-
posed with the stern intimation that the Church should
do nothing of the kind. You priests and bishops, the
English Parliament had said, shall have stake and gibbet
at your disposition no more. You had power once, and
you abused it, and we shall not trust you again. For
these abstruse questions we cannot absolutely say what
is true, nor do we believe that you can say. Within
the limits of reverence and piety we will allow men to
think for themselves. Our own laws are politically suffi-
cient for us. Your master the Pope has no authority
in this island, and shall not meddle with us. If you
will obey the law and live peaceably, you shall have the
same protection from us that others have. If you will
not obey, if you choose to persist in claims which we
deny, and conspire with strangers against the Govern-
ment of your country, your so-called sacred character
shall not save you. We will hang you as we would hang
any other traitor. .

This was the position which Campian had really to
assail, and keener arguments were needed to overcome
it than were to be found in the patristic armoury. It
became daily more and more clear that mischief was
intended, and Elizabeth, against her will, was compelled
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to see that the laws must be enforced, and these itiner-
ant incendiaries be put down before the whole realm
was on fire. They were protected for the first six months
by the Queen’s extreme aversion to severity. As soon
as Walsingham was permitted to exert himself, large
captures were rapidly made. At the beginning
of December seven or eight of the young priests,
Sherwin, Bryant, Pascal, Harte, Johnson, Kirby, and
one or two more were arrested in various places and
taken to the Tower. Harte’s courage failed him; he
recanted and saved himself by becoming a spy. The
rest when examined said frankly who and what they were
—English snbjects in the service of the Pope, who was
levying war against the Queen in Ireland. They were
required to give the names of the gentlemen at whose
houses they had been received, and to reveal the place
of concealment of their leaders. They refused, and it
was thought just and necessary to use other means to
force them to speak. 'The Tower rack stood in the long
vaulted dungeon below the armoury. Under a warrant
signed by six of the council, and in the presence of the
Lieutenant, whose duty was to direct and moderate the
application of the pains, they were laid at various times,
and more than once, as they could bear it, upon the
frame, the Commissioners sitting at their side and re-
peating their questions in the intervals of the winding
of the winch. A practice which by the law was always
forbidden could be palliated only by a danger so great
that the nation had become like an army in the field. It
wus repudiated on the return of calmer times, and the

December.
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employment of it rests as a stain on the memory of
those by whom it was used. It is none the less certain
however that the danger was real and terrible, and the
same causes which relieve a commander in active service
from the restraints of the common law, apply to the
conduct of statesmen who are dealing with organized
treason. The law is made for the nation, not the nation
for the law. Those who transgress do it at their own

risk, but they may plead circumstances at the bar of
" history, and have a right to be heard.

This also is to be said of the torturing of these Jesuits.
‘None was put to the rack that was not first by
manifest evidence known to the council to be guilty of
treason, so that it was well assured aforehand that there
was no innocent tormented. Also none was tormented
to know whether he was guilty or no: but for the
Queen’s safety to know the manner of the treason
and the accomplices.’! ‘Nor was any man tormented
for matter of religion, nor asked what he believed of
any point of religion, but only to understand of par-
ticular practicos against the Queen for setting up their
religion by treason or force. If any one of them did
say that he would truly answer to such things as he
was demanded on the Queen’s behalf, and would by
oath, or without oath, seriously and upon his allegiance
say that he did know or believe his answers to be true,
he was never racked. Neither was any of them racked
that had not both obstinately said, and did persist in

! Thomas Norton to Walsingha, March 27, 1582: II8S. Domestic.
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that obstinacy, that he would not tell truth though the
Queen commanded him.’ !

Allen and his friends had now the confessors which
they desired. Where eye could not reach, imagination
penetrated, and the scenes in the Tower dungeons were
painted in the gorgeous colours of the Catholic mar-
tyrologies. The Government published no details of
these dark transactions, and the Church had the field to
itself. Only here and there is it possible to check with
certainty the facile pen of the describer. The imprison-
ment was made intentionally severe. The cells were
underground, lighted by tunnels sloping upwards, and
closely grated to prevent communication. The prison
diet was bread, beer, salt fish, and water not the freshest.?
The alarm had extended beyond the influence of its
immediate cause. Old Abbot Feckenham and the sur-
viving Marian bishops, who had lived hitherto in country
houses, under loose restraint, were confined more strictly
in the castles of Hull, Wisbeach, and Banbury. They
suffered from the change of lodging, and some of great
agedied of it. Those whose estimate of probabilities will
allow them, may believe if they please that debauched
women were introduced into the rooms of Feckenham
and Watson the Bishop of Lincoln, to tempt these aged
and broken men to acts of impurity.®

! ThomasNorton to Walsingham, | necessitates supplendas illis dene-
March 27, 1582 : MSS. Domestio. | gatur, nisi ejusmodi quee putrida sit
2 ¢Ad vitm victusque sustenta- | velint acceptare.’—Letter from a
tionem aliud non hubent prater | Priest in the Tower, July, 1581
panem et cerevisiam et modici salsi | MSS. Domestic,
piscis sustentationem. Tum, quod 3 ¢ Erat non multis abhinc diebus
valdeinhumanum est, aqua ad eorum | meretrix quedam quorundam opera
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Bryant, a youth of twenty-four, was known
to be aware of the hiding-place of Parsons.
He refused to reveal it, and the Commissioners who had
been sent to examine him threatened that ¢if he would
not tell truth for his duty to God and the Queen, he
should be made a foot longer than God had made him.’
He defied them, and they kept their word, and the
Catholics exultingly reported that by special miracle he
had felt no pain. He had laughed upon the rack, and
had asked his tormentors if that was all that they could
do. Thomas Norton, one of the examiners, when the story
was published conceived that he would be touched in
honour if he was believed to have done his work so ill.
He admired Bryant’s courage. He ‘lamented that the
Devil should have so possessed him in so naughty a
cause.” DBut ‘as to the setting forth of the miracle that
he was preserved from feeling of pain,” he said, ¢ it was
most untrue, for no man of them all after his torture
made so grievous complaining and shewed so open signs
of pain as he.’! Harte’s constancy was loudly boasted
of,2 but his suffering was merely imaginary. He was a

July.

in reverendi Episcopi Lincolniensis | duxerunt reverendissimo seni ver-

cubiculum inverecunde introducta,
quee, omni muliebri pudore abjecto,
hune, senem virum senio peene con-
fectum, ad nequitiam et turpem
libidinem omnibus modis solicitavit.
Pre verecundid taceo quibus illece-
bris heec virago usa est que eum a
perpetua castitatis constantia dedu-
ceret; cui senex fortiter resistens
dam banc impudicam belluam foras
expellere totis viribus operam dedit,
nebulones pessimi qui istam ad-

bera minitabantur. Alia quoque
meretrix ad Feckenhammum pari
arte intromissa fuit.’—Ibid. Both
Feckenham and the Bishop of
Lincoln were a hundred miles from
London. The priest in the Tower
therefore could have learnt these
stories only at second-hand.

1 Thomas Norton to Walsingham,
March 27, 1582 : MSS. Domestio.

2 ¢‘Dominus Hartus per tres horag
in tormento expansusjacebat.’—Let-
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traitor to his friends, and he was put on the rack that
the report of his endurance might gain him credit and
confidence with his order. ¢There is nothing,’ said this
wretch, in a letter to Walsingham, ‘that can please
Doctor Allen better than to hear of his scholars’ stout-
ness in suffering for the Catholic faith. It is a wonder
to see how he will rejoice at hearing thereof, which
thing maketh me to think that whereas I who was before
this so dear to him that he made some account of me,
and was not willing that I should depart when I did,
if he shall now hear of my stoutness, that it has been
such as to abide a whole year’s close imprisonment,
and that in the Tower, the only name whereof is terrible
abroad, yea, and much more, to have been at the rack
—although I endured nothing thereon, but that is un-
known to him—to have been indicted, arraigned, and
condemned for the same, as both he and his fellows I
know are fully persuaded, and now stand at her Ma-
jesty’s pleasure for my life—without any speeches as I
suppose yet openly known that I am so minded as I
have professed to your honour to reform myself accord-
ing to her Majesty’s good and virtuous proceedings—if
I were now with him in this case I should be so much
made of as I cannot express it in words, and I think
verily he would now make me privy to many things
which hitherto, mistrusting my constancy, he has kept
secret from me, imparting them to very few of the chief
seniors of the house.’ ! ‘

ter of a Priest from the Tower, July, ' John IIarte to Walsinghan,
1581: MSS. Lomestic. December 1, 1581 ; MSS. Ibid.
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From these specimens the condition generally of the
Jesuit prisoners may be easily pictured. Campian and
Parsons meanwhile were still at large, and more suc-
cessful than ever. The account of his friends’ endur-
ance added fire to Campian’s oratory, and trebled the
rate of conversion. Lord Oxford, Burghley’s ill-con-
ditioned son-in-law; Sir Francis Southwell ; Lord -
Vaux; Lord Henry Howard, the Duke of Norfolk’s
brother ; Philip, Earl of Arundel, Norfolk’s eldest son,
to whom Elizabeth was endeavouring by special kind-
ness to compensate for his father’s death; these and
many more of high blood were early * reconciled,’ either
by him or his companions.! ‘The heretics,’ 581,
wrote Campian to the General, ‘ brag no more J*:
of their martyrs, for it is now come to pass that for a
few apostates and cobblers of theirs burned, we have
lords, knights, the old nobility, patterns of learning,
piety, and. prudence, the flower of the youth, noble
matrons, and of the inferior sort innumerable, either
martyred at once,?® or by consuming prisonment dying
daily.’3

There must have been something at the bottom vul-
gar in Campian. It was at once the glory of the Re-
formation and the disgrace of Pole and Mary that
the Protestant confessors were mainly taken from me-

1 Deposition of Charles Arundel, | had been executed for palpable
December, 1580: MSS. Domestie. | treason.

2 The only martyrs of distinction 3 Ed. Campian to Everardo Mer-
whom the Chureh could asyet boast | curiano, November, 1580: MSS.
of were the Duke of Norfolk and | Domestic.
the Earl of Northumberland, who |
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chanics’ workshops. Galilean fishermen were the first
to die for the Gospel, and a burnt cobbler did as much
honour to Protestantism as an executed noble to Rome.
But the conversion of so many men of rank was po-
litically of extreme importance. The spirit of the
Ridolfi conspiracy was evidently reviving. It was a
question of life and death, and the Government deter-
mined to be masters. Jesuits and seminary priests
continued to arrive in tens and twenties. The Earl of
‘Westmoreland received a summons to Rome from the
Pope, and brought back a pile of bullion to Flanders.
‘The Papists said openly they hoped to see Westmore-
land and the Duke of Alva in England before the com-
ing Midsummer.’

The Catholics, for the first time, refused generally
to attend the Anglican services, and one of Walsing-
ham’s spies in England warned him that ‘the times
were perilous, the people wilful and desirous of change,
with greater danger on hand than was provided for.’!
‘Walsingham, with Burghley at his side, accepted the
challenge. Attendance at church was made a test of
loyalty, and Lord Paget and other suspected nobles
were required to hear the service at Paul’s Cross at
their peril.? Parliament was called to grant extra-
ordinary powers, the same Parliament which had been
returned in 1572, in the excitement which followed the
rebellion. The Protestant majority was valuable, and
there had been no dissolution.

S, ‘Walsingham, June * Paget to Walsingham, January
5, 1581 : MSS. Domestic. 10, 1581 : MSS. Ibid.
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The Houses met on the 16th of January. The Queen
was absent and there was no speech. The attendance
of Peers was ominously small. Elizabeth had intimated
that the session was to be a short one, and that she
would have no meddling under any circumstances with
the government of the Church. Sir John Popham, the
Speaker, endeavoured to meet her wishes, and recom-
mended the Commons to be discreet and brief. It was
easier to advise than to secure compliance. The Lower
House had already shown signs of restlessness under
the Queen’s dictation, and English Protestant gentle-
men were as resolute as the Jesuits, and no less con-
scious of the goodness of their cause. When Popham
sat down, Paul Wentworth! moved that there should
be ‘a Fast of the House,” and that every morning at
seven, before business commenced, there should be a
sermon, ¢ that so beginning with the service and worship
of God, he might the better bless them.” The House
was favourable to both proposals. Sir F. Knowles ob-
jected the Queen’s orders, but was overruled. A Fast
of the Commons House was carried by a majority of
fifteen, and Sunday the 25th was named for it. The
privy council were requested to select the daily preach-
ers, ‘that they might be discreet persons, who would
keep a convenient proportion of time, and meddle with
no matter of unquietness.’?

Elizabeth, determined as she was to put down the

1 Brother of Peter Wentworth, | Commons in the matter of the
member for Tregony, who had been | Fast, January, 1581: MSS., Do-

distinguished in the past session. mestic.
3 Proceedings of the House of
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Jesuits, was equally resolved to treat them merely as
traitors, and to keep religion out of the field. Anything
which would give a Protestant character to the measure
about to be proposed she loeked upon as specially ob-
jectionable. She sent for Popham, who the next day
told the House that she was greatly displeased and that
she required them to recall their resolutions. When
they hesitated Knowles rose again and addressed them
in the Queen’s name. She was splélmtic even when she
was wise. She knew that she could depend on their
loyalty, but she liked to treat them as schoolboys. She
desired them to understand that ‘she did not disallow
fasting and prayer, using the same in her own person.’
‘She acquitted them of malice but condemned them of
errour and unadvisedness.” After ‘her lenity to the
brother of the man who had made the motion, that a
second Wentworth should be heard and followed she
interpreted to be great unthankfulness’ They were
still inclining to be mutinous when Sir Nichelas St
Leger opened a way for them to yield with dignity. He
spoke of ‘ the great affection’ which the House bore to
the Queen, the imperfection of all estates, and chiefly
‘ the faults of the bisheps who had suffered the duty of
fasting and humiliation te go out of use.” He considered
however that they would do well to submit in the pre-
sent instance, with the hope ¢ that both her Majesty and
others would repent all defaults and humble themselves
to God in sackcloth and ashes.’' So expressed, the

1 Proceedings of the House of | January, 158r; MSS. Domestio,
Commons in the matter of the Fast, | Compare D’Ewes’ Journals, 1580-81.
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House accepted his advice without a division, and
Knowles was empowered to tell the Queen that her will
should be obeyed. Sir Walter Mildmay then rose for
the council. He spoke of the moderation of the Govern-
ment, of the prosperity which England had enjoyed
under the Queen while the rest of Europe was in flames.
He dwelt on the successive attempts which had been made
by the Popes to destroy. her, the northern rebellion, the
Bull of Deposition, the Irish revolt, and the secret coun-
tenance given to the disaffected by Spain. So far the
Queen had been able to encounter these plots against
her at her own cost. The country had been called on
for little or mo assistance. The few subsidies for which
she had asked had not covered half her expenses, and
without loans or benevolences she had carried on the
government out of her private revenues. England
under her moderate rule enjoyed more freedom than any
nation under the sun. She had been personally a vir-
tuous princess, unspotted in ward or deed, merciful, tem-
perate, a maintainer of peace, and of justice. She had a
right therefore to call upon her subjects now to stand by
her against the malice of the Pope. and his confederates.

‘The enemy sleeps not,” Mildmay said. ¢The mis-
chievous purposes will be renewed. They are determined
to root out the Gospel and set England on fire. The ob-
stinate and stiff-necked are not converted, but are bolder
than they were. A sort of hypocrites, Jesuits and vagrant
Friars, have come into the realm to stir sedition, and
many of those who used to come to church have fallen
back and refuse to attend. 'We must therefore look to it.
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Our Church, compared to the persecuting Papal Church,
has been lenient and merciful, but when fair means have
done no good, and behind our tolerance there come in
these emissaries of rebellion and sedition, it is time
to look more strictly to them. They have been en-
couraged so far by the lenity of the laws. We must
show them that as the Pope’s curses do not hurt us, so
his blessings cannot save them. We must make laws
to restrain these people, and we must prepare force to
resist violence which may be offered here or abroad.’!
‘With this preface a bill was introduced, ¢ to restrain
her Majesty’s subjects in their due obedience.” On the
publication of the Bull of Pope Pius, an Act had been
passed making the introduction of this or any other
Papal rescript into England treasonable ; but it had been
proved inadequate, and Parliament was now therefore
requested to enact ‘that all persons pretending to any
power of absolving subjects from their allegiance or
practising to withdraw them to the Romish religion,
with all persons after the present session willingly so
absolved or reconciled to the See of Rome, should be
held guilty of high treason;’ and ‘that those who
abetted or concealed such persons should be held guilty
of misprision of high treason ;’ that the saying mass in
private houses which had been winked at for twenty
years should be permitted no longer, that whoever should
say or sing a mass should be fined 500 marks and im-
prisoned for a year, and that those who refused to attend

! Speech of Sir Walter Mildway : 2 Ewes’ Journals, 1580-81.
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the service of the Established Church should pay 20/ a
month for their exemption.!

It was a serious step. The last clause especially was
equivalent to the confiscation of the estates of the Ca~
tholics; and although the Commons did not hesitate to
pass a measure which was felt to be necessary, yet they
felt also that if the nation was to be coerced into cons
formity the Established Church must be made worthy of
its position, In the last session they had complained of
the revival by the bishops of the worst practices of the
unreformed system. The Queen had promised improve-
ment, but her injunctions had been evaded or despised.
‘Were there. any honesty in those prelates in whom
honesty should most be found,’ said one, ‘we should
not be in our present trouble.” Notwithstanding her
order to abstain from such subjects the Commons by
committee renewed their petition. The Queen thought it
prudent to yield, and six of the bishops were appointed
to confer with the Commeons to devise means of redress.
The discussion which followed appears to have been ex-
tremely acrimonious. The bishops were told that they
were unfit to be trusted with the charge of the Church.
¢ They had filled the pulpits with unlearned and unfit
ministers whom they had admitted into orders, and the
number of Papists and Anabaptists had increased by
their remissness.’

¢ The bishops,” in reply, ‘spake most or only March,
for jurisdiction, in so much as one great

' ! Statutes of the Realm, 23 Elizabeth, cap. I.
VOL. XL .8
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bishop said that, rather than he would yield that pri-
vate schoolmasters should acknowledge their conformity
in religion before justices of the peace, he would say
Nay to the whole Bill.’* At length, not without bad
blood on both sides, the dispute was compromised. The
bishops promised amendment. The Commons withdrew
the additions which they had meant to attach, and the
Bill was passed. A large subsidy was voted for the de-
fence of the realm. Another Act was passed also, levelled
intentionally against pamphleteers like Stubbs, but
made double-edged to strike Papist as well as Puritan,
raising into felony the publication of rhyme, book,
ballad, letter, or writing to the defamation of her Ma-
jesty.?

The remaining business was hurried over. The
Crown had obtained money, and the council their in-
creased powers. On the 18th the Queen came to the
House of Lords, thanked the Parliament for their serv-
ices, ‘not including such members of the Commons
House as had during the session dealt more rashly in
some things than was fit for them to do;’ and declared
it prorogued.®

The passing of the Treason Act obliged the Catho-
lics to review their position. Almost all among them
who were Catholics by descent were patriotic English-
men. They had no desire either to lose their lands or

1 Note of proceedings in Parlia- | beth, cap. 2.
ment, Mr Norton’s defence against 3 D’Ewes’ Journals. This Pars
Mr Hampton’s report, March, 1581 : | liament never met again. It was
MSS. Domestic. continued by prorogation till April
2 Statutes of the Realm, 23 Eliza- | 19, 1583, and then dissolved.
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be forced into disloyalty, and could they be permitted
would gladly continue to attend the Church services as
before. But they dared not resist the Jesuit authorities.
Their wishes were referred to Parsons and Campian,
who though they could not sanction what the Council
of Trent had forbidden, yet allowed them to use their
best ingenuity to evade the statute.

‘No Catholic Christian,” it was said, ¢ could go to
church without danger of damnable schism.” The An-
glicans might claim the name of Catholic, but their
ministers ¢ were some Protestants, some Puritans, some
holding other plain heresies.’” *He that was a Protest-
ant to-day would to-morrow be a Puritan, or some
other sectary.” ‘No Catholic therefore ought to pray
with them or hear them preach.”’ ¢Christians were
bound fully and wholly, and not by pieces and patches,
to keep the Catholic faith, which was impossible to be
donme if they went to church and prayed and communi-
cated with heretics and schismatics, Puritans, Anabap-
tists, Brownists, or the Family of Love” When how-
ever they were asked whether they would or would not
go to church, they need not answer. No one by Eng-
lish law was bound to criminate himself, while a general
refusal might lead ¢ the simple’ ¢ to repute them Atheists
or Godless.” Before they eould be indicted there must
be proof of fact or facts. A B, it would have to be
said, being of the age of sixteen years, for the space of
many months had not frequented church or chapel, not
having lawful excuse. And of this no jury could
possibly be assured.. That a man had not attended his
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parish church did not prove that he had attended no
church. Nor was there any definition of the words
¢ lawful excuse.’
Should these exceptions be disallowed how-
ever, the Jesuits concluded that a true Ca-
tholic must confess his faith and brave the conse-
quences. If he was required to say distinctly whether
he would attend church or not, he must in that case,
‘making protest that he spoke under compulsion, and
not to impeach any law or statute,” say out plainly and
honourably why he could not obey. The service was
not Catholic, and he dared not, for the peril of his soul,
go near it. The laws and statutes of a Christian country
could not compel a man to damn his soul.!

The Catholics were now in hard case, and they had
to thank for it the fanatics who had erected the right of
the Pope to depose princes into an article of faith. The
letters of Mendoza to Philip throw an interesting light
on the despair of the better part of them. ¢The leading
Catholics of this country,” he wrote on the 6th of April,
‘have signified to me that, besides the troubles and.
miseries which they have undergone in the two last
years, a persecution now awaits them of which the
first was but a shadow. They must not depart from
the realm ; and unless they will forget God, and profess
the errors which are here established, they will not only
lose lands, liberty, and perhaps life, but, through these
laws now passed through Parliament, they may leave

1 Papers endorsed ¢ Catholics going to Protestant churches, 1581:’
MSS. Domestic.
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tainted names to their children.! . They place them-
selves in the hands of God, and are willing to sacrifice
life and all in the service, but scarcely with that burn-
ing zeal which they ought to show.? They feel as men
the shame of figuring before their descendants as traitors
to their Prince; yet they see also that these unjust
and rigorous laws may be the means of extirpating the
Catholic religion out of the land, unless in some way
the execution of them be prevented. It is to effect this
purpose that the heretics have pressed them on the
Queen. They have made her believe that the Catholics
will not be contented with liberty of worship, but desire
a change of sovereigns. They have pretended that her
life is in danger, the independence of the country
threatened, with other lies and fictions; and although
the Catholics did their utmost to prevent these laws
from passing, and offered the Queen at last a hundred
and fifty thousand dollars if she would refuse consent,
they could not prevail upon her. They address them-
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1 This could be said only of con-
verts—or of those who chose to en-
tertain the Jesuits. The statute
touched no one who had been born
and bred a Catholic, if he offended
in no other way, further.than by a
fine if be was recusant. -

2 The uncertainty of the English
Catholics, placed between two duties,
was acknowledged by a seminary
priest in the Tower. ¢ For prepar-
ation,” he said, ‘to be made here
before our coming, who were priests
gent to win men home again to our
society and fellowship, I knew none

other but that it was chiefly to be
made by our own labours, hoping that
if there were any great number of
such, when any power were once set
on land—though how that should be
done we likewise knew not—they
would all join together to make a
reformation. And yet, I tell you true,
there were more that did doubt, here-
of than did affirm it, because they
thought all generally, of what re-
ligion soever they were, would jointly
bear arms agninst a foreigner.’—
Depositions : MSS. MarYy QUEEN
oF Scors 1582, >
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selves therefore to your Majesty as the pillar and
defender of the faith. They ask your pity, and they
ask your help : and they beseech your interest with
his Holiness, if the tares of heresy are not entirely
to choke the good seed which God has planted by the
seminary priests, to appoint some English cardinal,
such as Father Sanders or Father Allen. If they have
no head or no leader, they will crumble away under
these statutes. A cardinal only can help them; and
one gentleman has offered a thousand dollars
annually for his support.’!

¢ God,” wrote Mendoza again, in a second letter a few
weeks later, ‘for our sins, permits the spirits of the
Catholics to sink more and more, while with the heretics,
whatever happens inspires them only with fresh courage
to maintain their delusions.’?

The confession of the Spaniard was in
singular contrast to the dream of Campian
that heresy was dying. During the session of Parlia-
ment the latter was hiding in London, printing his ¢ Ten
Reasons for heing a Catholic,” which were to complete
the conversion of England. He had a friend living on
the Harrow Road, whom he often visited. His walk
led him past the Tyburn gallows,® and instinct telling
him what might one day befall him there, he touched

April 6.

May.

! Mendoza to Philip, April 6, | trario en los hereges que cualquiera
1581: MSS. Simancas. novidad les da & los corage para sus-

? ¢Parece que habia de hacer | tentar su ctequedad.’—Mendoza to
caso en los Catolicos. Por nuestros | Philip, May 14 : MSS. Simancas.
pecados permite Dios que les anichi-  Where Connaught. Terrace now
len mas los arimos, viendose el con- | stands.
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his hat to the ugly thing whenever he went by. The
¢ Ten Reasons’ came out, throwing Oxford, among other
places, into an ecstasy of enthusiasm; and Campian and
Parsons, who had been in London also, then went into
the country to the house of Lady Stonor, near Henley.
The publication of the book had increased the deter-
mination of the Government to disarm and punish its
author ; but the persecution had created much general
pity for the hunted Jesuits. Notwithstanding the
threatened penalties, some Protestants were
found, of the milder sort, who concealed them
from their pursuers;! and the care of their friends and
the wilful blindness of the country gentlemen had
hitherto served to screen them. But the search was
now growing hot, and greater precaution had become
necessary.

At Lyford, near Abingdon, twenty miles from Hen-
ley, there was an ancient ‘moated grange,’ the abode of
a Mr Yates, a Catholic who was in confinement in Lon-
don. His wife was at home, and with her were eight
Brigittine nuns, who had gone to Belgium on the death
of Queen Mary, but had returned on finding that they -
had no persecution to fear, and were now lingering out
their lives and their devotions in this Berkshire manor

July.

1¢Con todo esto permite Dios |y haciendas, diciendo que son buena
que se vea lo quesevié en la primitiva | gente sin haberse hallado jamas
Jglesia, habiendo gente de todas | hombre destos que les acuse hasta
suertes que con ser hereges son tan | agora con conocerles por Catolicos,
fieles & muchos de los clerigos que | ayudandoles con lo que tienen.’—
andan aqui escondidos, que por solo | Mendoza al Rey, 4 de Julio, 1581 :
acariciarles postponen hijos, muger | MSS. Simancas,
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house, with the knowledge and consent of the Queen.
The ladies, hearing that Campian was in the neighbour-
hood, were extremely anxious to receive the communion
from him. They had two priests in constant attend-
ance. They were not in want of the sacraments, and
the house being notorious and likely to be watched, his
ixppearance there was thought unnecessary and im-
prudent.

Parsons had resolved to return alone to London.
His companion he proposed to send to Norfolk, where
the Catholics were numerous and concealment would be
easy. The nuns however were pressing, and Campian
was-anxious to please them ; and Father Robert gavea
reluctant consent, on condition that his stay should not
be protracted beyond one day and night.

To Lyford therefore he went, on Wednes-
day the 12th of July. He was received with
tender enthusiasm. The long summer evening was
passed in conferences and confessions, and absolutions
and pious tears. Mass was said at dawn, and the devo-
tions were protracted through the morning: an early
" dinner followed, and the dangerous visit was safely
over., Campian and Emerson mounted and rode away
across the country. Their road led them near Oxford.
It was hard for them to pass the place to which so many
memories attached them, without pausing to look at it.
They lingered, and put up their horses at an alehouse,
where they were soon surrounded by a crowd of students.
The same afternoon some Catholic gentlemen happened
to call at Lyford, and hearing that they had so nearly

July 12,




1581.] : THE YESUIT INVASION. 89

missed Campian, one of them followed, and overtook
him and begged him to return. The students added
their entreaties. - If Campian would but remain at Ly-
ford on Sunday, half Oxford, they said, would ride over
to hear him preach. The temptation was strong.
Knowing his weakness, Parsons had placed him under
Emerson’s authority: but Emerson wanted strength,
and clamour and entreaty prevailed. He gave the re-
quired permission, and himself -went on upon his way ;
while Campian ¢turned again by the road that he
came,” promising to follow in the ensuing week. The
expected sermon became of course the talk of the Uni-
versity. An agent of Leicester, named Eliot, was in
Oxford at the time with a warrant in his pocket for
Campian’s apprehension. He gave notice to a magis-
trate, collected a posse of constables, and on Sunday
morning early concealed them in the neighbourhood of
the grange; whilst he himself went boldly to the gate,
and pretending to be a Catholic requested to be admitted
to mass. The nuns and the Catholic visitors had for
two days enjoyed to the full the presence of their idolized
teacher. The Sunday only remained, and then he was
to leave them indeed. The students had crowded over
as they promised, and Eliot passed in as one of them.
Mass was celebrated. They all communicated ; and
then followed the last sermon which Campian was ever
to preach.

The subject was the tears of Jesus at the aspect of
Jerusalem, Jerusalem that murdered the prophets and
stoned them that were sent to her. England was that
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Jerusalem, and he and his fellows were the prophets.
The Protestants on their side could sing the same song.
Campian, though not past middle age, could remember
the martyrs at Oxford, and the burning of those four
hundred mechanics at whom it pleased him to scoff.
‘Who was to choose between the witnesses? But the
dreams of hysteria are to the dreamers the inspiration
of the Almighty. He was never more brilliant, his elo-
quence being subdued and softened by the sense that
his end was near. Eliot—Judas Eliot as he was after-
wards called—glided out before he had ended. A few
minutes after, a servant rushed into the assembly, to say
that the doors were beset by armed men.

Those who are acquainted with English manor
houses must have seen often narrow staircases
piercing the walls, and cells hollowed out in
the seeming solid masonry. These places were the
priests’ chambers of the days of the persecution, where
in sudden alarms they could be concealed. Into one of
them Campian and the two chaplains were instantly
hurried. The entrance, scarcely to be detected by those
who knew where to look for it, was in Mrs Yates’s room
‘behind the bed curtains. The constables with Eliot at
their head were admitted, searched every place, and
could find nothing. The magistrate who wasin attend-
ance apologized to Mrs Yates, and was about to with-
draw his men, when Eliot, who had seen Campian
there with his own eyes, and knew that no one had
left the house, produced the council’s warrant, and
insisted on a further search. It was continued till dark,

July 16.
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but still without success. The brave Mrs Yates showed.
no anxiety, begged the constables to remain for the
night, entertained them hospitably, and dosed them
heavily with ale. Sound slumber followed ; Campian and
his two companions were brought out of their hiding-
place, and at that moment might have easily escaped,
but enthusiasm and prudence were ill companions. A
¢ parting of friends’ was necessary, and ‘last words,’
and tears and sobs, at Mrs Yates’s bedside. The
murmur of voices was heard below-stairs, and dis-
turbed the sleepers in the hall. The three priests
were again hurried into the wall, and at day-
break the search was renewed. Again it
was unsucocessful. The magistrate, an unwilling in-
strument throughout, was about to depart with a sar-
castic remark to Eliot on the accuracy of his inform-
ation ; they were descending the staircase for the last
time, when Eliot, striking the wall, heard something
unusual in the sound. A servant of the house who was
at his side became agitated. Eliot called for a mattock,
dashed in the plaster, and found the men that he wasin
starch of lying side by side upon a narrow bed. They
had confessed their sins to each other. They had said
their F¥at¢ voluntas tua. Three times they had invoked
St John as Campian’s patron saint. But 8t John had
left them to their fate. Campian was taken out with-
out violence, and was carried first to Aldermaston, the
hous¢ of Humfrey Forster, the Sheriff of Berkshire.
Forster, who, like most English gentlemen, was more
than half a Catholic, received him rather as a guest than

July 17.
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a prisoner, but was obliged to communicate with the
council, and received orders to send him up at once.
The sympathy which protected him in the country did

not extend to London. He was brought into
" the city in his lay disguise, wearing cap and
feather, buff jerkin, and velvet hose, his feet tied under
his horse’s belly, and his arms pinioned behind his
back. A placard was fastened on his head, with the
words, ‘Campian, the seditious Jesuit” He was led
along through a yelling crowd to the Tower gate, where
Sir Owen Hopton received him, and his lodging for
the night was ¢Little Ease’—a narrow cell at one end
of the torture chamber, underground, entirely dark,
where he could neither stand nor lie at length.

The next day the council directed that some better
lodging should be provided for him. Neither the Queen
nor Leicester had forgotten the brilliant youth who had

July 25 flattered them at Oxford. The Earl sent for

" him; and being introduced into a private

room, he found himself in the presence of Elizabeth
herself. She wished to give him a chance of saving
himself. She asked whether he regarded her as his
lawful sovereign. The relaxation of the Bull allowed
him to say that he did. She asked whether he thought
that the Bishop of Rome could lawfully excommunicate
her. A'distinct declaration of loyalty, a frank repudi-
ation of the temporal pretensions of the Pope, were all
that was required of him. He would not make either.
He said that he was no umpire between parties so far
above him, he could not decide a question on which the

July 22
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learned were divided. He would pay her Majesty what
was hers, but he must pay to God what was God’s. He
was returned to the Tower with directions that he
should be kindly treated ; but Burghley’s determination
prevailed over Elizabeth’s good-nature. Morton had
just been executed. A spy at Rheims procured and
sent over a copy of a letter from Allen to Father Al-
gazzari, boasting of Campian’s successes, of the multi~
tude of priests who were at work in England, of the
ease with which they baffled the searchers at Dover,
and of the unnumbered converts whom they were re-
eonciling to the faith., Two expressions in the letter,
underlined either by Burghley or Walsingham, justified
the worst interpretation of the Jesuit’s objects. Allen
spoke of a young Catholic of good family as having
come over to him ut se servaret ad tllud fempus, that he
might keep himself safe till ¢kat time—the time of the
insurrection and invasion. Another piece of information
was that Parsons was in continual conference with
several noblemen, and even with certain members of
the privy council.!
Everard Harte, a seminary priest, perhaps

the traitor’s brother, who had defied the Go- July 31.
vernment, and declared himself the Pope’s subject, was
hanged and quartered under the late Act at Tyburn, 6n
the 31st of July. ‘He died,” says Mendoza, ¢ with in-

1 ¢ Continuo interpellatur a nobili- | italics either Burghley, Walsingham,
bus etiam et a quibusdam consilianis | or Elizabeth—for no one else saw
propter necessaria constlia.’—Allen | these papers—has drawn a finger—
to Algazzari, June 23 : MSS. Do- | F
mestic, Opposite to the words in
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vincible resolution, to the wonder of the heretics and the
great edification of the Catholics. Two nights after,
there was not a particle of earth which his blood had
stained, that had not been carried off us a relic, and in-
finite sums were given for his shirt and other clothes.’
The same 31st of July, Campian was questioned at the
Tower, first on his allegiance, and afterwards, since his
answer was still equivocal, as to the houses which he
had visited, the families which had received him, and
the whereabouts of the printing press from which his
books were issued. He would confess nothing, and he
was racked two days successively.? His cour-
age was not absolutely proof. He gave up a
few names ; and his bearing was contrasted unfavour-
ably with Bryant’s, who had suffered far more severely.
Additional arrests followed, and greater strictness with
the ordinary prisoners. Their friends were no longer
admitted indiscriminately into the Marshalsea, and in-
dulgences were taken away which they had been allowed
to purchase: Relations of those who lay under charge

August.

! Mendoza to Philip, August 4,
1581 : MSS. Simancas.

2 Mendoza says that when the
rack failed, needles were run under
the nails of the fingers and toes of
the Jesuits—a mode of torture, he
tells us, which the Spaniards ex-
pected to form one of the worst atro-
cities of the Kingdom of Antichrist.
¢ Aprecian & los clerigos que aciertan
& prender con diversissimos y terri-
bles generos de tormentos, y entre
otros usan uno que en Espafia se

imagina la gente que como el mayor
de todos ha de obrar el Antichristo,
que es el meter hierros entre las uitas
y la carne, y con este han sido ator-
mentados dos clerigos que tienen en
1a Torre, siendo uno dellos Campian.”
—Mendoza al Rey, 4 de Agosto:
HSS. Simancas. Such exceptional
barbarity could hardly have escaped
the knowledge of the Catholic mar-
tyrologists. Mendoza had probably
heard some confused account of the
thumbscrew.
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of treason, or who had gone abroad without leave, were
forbidden to send them money. The Spanish ambassa-
dor became a general banker for the families of the
distressed, and through his servants some few conveni-
ences were smuggled into the prisons notwithstanding
the council’s vigilance.

Filled as they had been with visions of ‘a good time’
soon coming, the Catholic leaders now became wild with
impatience. The arrest and torture of Campian were
too horrible to be borne, and they besieged Mendoza
with entreaties that Spain and the Duke of Guise should
delay no longer. D’Aubigny had succeeded brilliantly
in Scotland; Morton was dead; the English party
gone; the friends of the Queen of Scots in power. Now,
if ever, was the time for their allies to come over and
interfere between them and destruction. Unfortunately,
Guise was not France, and d’Aubigny, though he had
destroyed Morton, had not destroyed Protestantism.
James was still Protestant; d’Aubigny had been
obliged to profess himself Protestant ; both he and the
King had recently signed a vehemently Calvinistic con-
fession; and Philip, anxious always to find excuses to
put off interference, could not think of compromising
himself by an alliance with a non-Catholic power.

- ¢ have let them know in Scotland,” wrote
Mendoza to him, ‘that before anything can
be done, the King must be reconciled to the Church.
It is not an easy matter, for the Scoteh council are de-
clared Protestants, and would send word of it to this
Queen. The Catholic nobles here have been the means

September..
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of communication, I showed them that, in the present
state of Europe, a change on the part of the King of
Scots was the indispensable preliminary to a movement
in England, For your Majesty to employ your forces
in the Low Countries in the immediate service of the
English Catholics, would only lead to war between your
Majesty and France; and when the war had once
begun, the French Government would declare, in self-
defence, for heresy and heretics, I told them that
France could not, for its own sake, allow your Majesty
to make yourself sovereign of England under colour of
religion.

‘They saw the reason of this. They acknowledged
that, ground down as they had been, they could do no-
thing for themselves, unless your Majesty sent a fleet
and more than fifteen thousand men—unless, in fact,
you were yourself prepared to undertake the conquest,
I pointed out however that Ireland, although it could
do no more than embarrass the Queen and prevent her
from sending troops to Flanders, could still distress her
for men and money; and if the King of Scots could be
converted, the war could then be begun by him—which
for a number of reasons would be the most desirable
plan. This, in fact, was the foundation for them to build
upon. I adviged them to lose no time in setting about
it, and I recommended such of them as had acquaint-
ances in Scotland, and understood the humours of the
people there, to feel their way through their friends
upon the Border. They entirely approved of what I
said. Six of them—six noblemen of the highest rank
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—have now combined for the liberties of their country.
They will reveal their plans to no one but myself, but
they have sworn to stand by one another with their
lives and lands. They will send a priest to Edinburgh,
to obtain if possible a private interview with d’Aubigny,
and let him know that if the King will return to com-
munion with the Holy See, the English Peers and gentle-
men, supported, as they may reasonably expect to be,
by the Pope, by your Majesty, and also by France, will
demand the release of his mother and his own nomin-
ation as next heir to the crown. Otherwise, d’Au-
bigny must not deceive himself. The King, if he per-
sists in remaining Protestant, will find them more
determined enemies to his succession than the heretics
themselves.

¢ Supposing d’Aubigny to listen, and the King to
show a disposition to comply, a brother of one of them
will then repair to his Holiness, and entreat his good
offices with your Majesty.

‘I committed myself to nothing beyond observing
that their object being the conversion of their country,
and therefore purely disinterested, I recommended them
to have as little as possible to say to the French. In
this view of mine they coincided fully. They have all
Catholic and Spanish hearts, and will be guided wholly
by your Majesty’s wishes. The King of Scots having
become a Catholic they will send their sons to Rheims
to be out of the way; and when the Scotch army is
over the Border, they will rise with the whole North in
his favour. If your Majesty will then help them, they

YOL. XI. 7
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know that their force will be irresistible. The Queen,
being now forty-nine years old, can no longer hope for
children, and the entire realm will join with them in
insisting on the settlement of the succession. If she
" refuse to allow the restoration of the Catholic religion,
she can be deposed. I do not mention the names of
these six noblemen.! They made me promise that I
would neither write nor speak of them to any one till
we see how things turn in Scotland. Of course, if they
can do nothing, they would then prefer to remain un-
known. But I am personally acquainted with all of
them. They are zealous in God’s service and your
Majesty’s. Their plans are reasonable and well laid.
The first object being the winning of souls, God cannot
but desire their success; and besides the service of Gtod,
it will be in the interest of your Majesty and your
realm to give them all the help that you can.’*

The Jesuit leaven was working to some purpose.
The six noblemen had all been received’ in course of
the past year, and their dread of disloyalty had been
washed away in the waters of their baptism. Proof
multiplies on proof that Walsingham was right in his
estimate of the character of the mission, and that no
injustice whatever was done the seminary priests or the
Order of Jesus, in regarding and treating them as trai-
tors. They had served their cause vigorously by their

t It is easy to supply them. They | uncle, Lord Paget, Lord Lumley,
must have been the Earl of North- | and either Vaux or Morley.
umberland, the Earl of Arundel, 2 Mendoza to Philip, September
Lord Henry Howard, Arundel’s |7, 1581: MSS. Simanoas, abridged.
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teaching, they were to serve it now in their deaths.

Campian had challenged the Protestant divines to a
public discussion. He was indulged in his desire. The
Tower chapel was fitted up for the engagement, and the
Deans of St Paul’s and Windsor, Nowell and Day,
were selected to enter the lists with him. A stage was
raised for the council and the courtiers; seats were
placed for the Catholic prisoners that they might benefit
by the defeat of their chief, and free access was allow-
ed to the public. Campian was brought in under a
guard. He stood for six hours arguing intricate di-
vinity. It was a false issue, and the Government gained
nothing by it. He could make a case which to Catholics
appeared unanswerable; but the real question was not
a theological one; it was rather was he or was he not a
loyal English subject, was he or was he not engaged in
recruiting soldiers for the Pope, ad illud tempus, for the
time when the King of Scots should cross the Border ?
To permit a controversy was to sanction his own defence
that his crime was not treason but religion, and his pale
face and tottering limbs showed painfully that his case
had been removed already beyond the arguments of the
learned deans. Thrice the adversaries engaged ; thrice
they failed to work conviction on each other. The
appeal was not to reason any more, but to that dread
arbiter to which nations refer their differences when
reason fails. England had revolted from the Papacy.
The Pope had reclaimed his subjects, and the God of
battles was to try the issue between them. The discus-
sion was found impolitic, and the cause was remitted to
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the secular judges, from whose hands it ought never to
bave passed. The Queen was still eager to save Cam-
pian. He was promised pardon and liberty if he would
consent to appear once in church. When kindness
failed torture was again tried, but nothing more could
be wrung from him; and the council then determined
to bring him and the other priests to trial. Some delay
was necessary, for the last racking had dislocated his
limbs, and he could not at once be moved.! At last on
the 14th and 15th of November true bills were found
before the grand jury of Middlesex against Campian
and fourteen others, for having conspired to deprive the
Queen of her style and dignity, with having come to
England to seduce her subjects from their allegiance,
and with having aftempted to induce strangers to in-
Nee. 20, vade the realm. On the 20th they were
brought to the bar in Westminster Hall and
arraigned, Sir Christopher Wray sitting as Chief Jus-
tice. Campian was no longer in his secular masquer-
ade dress, but in a priest’s cassock, with his beard close
shaven, and his face half buried in a black cap. The
prisoners pleaded all Not Guilty. Campian being un-
able 1o raise his arm, two of his companions raised it
for him, first kissing the broken joints.
Anderson, the Queen’s Serjeant, stated the case for
the Crown. Her Majesty, he said, from the day of her

! Mendoza writes on the 7th of | ¢ No habiendo sacado & juicio a
November to Ph